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 1.1    INTRODUCTION TO ACCOUNTING 

Learning Objective   :- 

 

After studying this sub unit you would be able to – 

i. Define   the meaning of Accounting 

ii. Explain objectives of accounting 

iii. Explain need and scope 

iv. Branches 

v. Describe the Limitation of accounting 

 

As we know the activities that we perform is basically categorized into two economic activity 

& non economic activity. This non economic activity when undertaken to earn profit is 

considered as business. As we all know the basic feature comprises of continuity that is by 

sale or purchase taking place should happen but if it happens only once, then it will not be 

considered   as an ongoing process. This becomes humanly impossible for us to remember all 

the transactions. Here accounting comes into picture by recording, classifying all the 

activities of financial nature of the business. Then they are summarized to know the 

profitability and financial position of the business. Then these activities are duly analyzed 

interpreted so as to get clear information about the existence of the business. 

Accounting is viewed as an information system which provides useful accounting 

information to various user of the accounting service for arriving at rational decision. 

Accounting is not only useful for profit making organization but also for not for profit 

organization i.e. charitable Hospitals club etc. 

 

 

1.1.2 MEANING OF ACCOUNTING 

Accounting is the systematic recorded presentation of financial nature of the enterprise. 

Identifying measuring recording and communicating financial information is known as 

accounting.  
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It is responsible to show all relevant information related to the business, so that internal & 

external stake holders get fair information about the profitability & the financial position 

of business. Accounting helps in recording the financial transaction in the books of 

accounts as businessman cannot rely on the memory on oneself. So they record in journal 

cash & subsidiary books which are the primary books of recorded. And then on the basis 

of the same they are posted in a particular account all those information related to the 

same. Then the above transactions are summarized at the end of the Accounting year 

(which comprise of 12 months) through trial balance and the next step through the 

Income & position statement we get to know the profitability and financial status of the 

business. The above information is duly analyzed interpreted by the stake holders. 

Accounting should depict a clear & fair position of the business in order to maintain the 

reliability among the stakeholders as it leads to their analysis & decision making with 

respect to the business.  

Its preparation is done by all the level of management lower, middle & upper level as all 

of them collectively perform the function of accounting in a series. The information so 

recorded in the books are based on the accounting concepts and conventions generally 

uniform in all the business entities but it tends to vary when we talk about the analysis of 

the firms profitability & financial status. As every individual has their own school of 

thoughts.  

In  the words of Smith & Ashburn ―Accounting is means of measuring and reporting results 

of economic activities‖. 

In  the opinion of Bierman and Derbin ―Accounting may be defined as the identifying, 

measuring, recording and communicating of financial information‖.  

 

1.1.3 OBJECTIVES OF ACCOUNTING 

i) Maintaining records of business transaction 

It is the basic purpose why accounting is done as business is an ongoing concern. It has ‗n‘ 

number of transaction in its life time which cannot be easily memorized and revise as & when 

required by a human mind. So preparation of records helps in storing all the related 
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information recorded as & when required for reference. The information if recorded through 

double entry system of accounting can even act as evidence in the court of law. But it is 

mandatory that all events should be recorded chronologically and in a systematic manner. 

This record act as a proof to inform the investors & other stake holders about the progress & 

profitability of business. 

ii)Calculation of Profit & Loss  

One of the main objectives of the existence of the business is earning profit. At the end of the 

accounting year an Income statement is prepared which comprise of Trading, Profit & Loss 

account of the business. To calculate the profitability of the business we reduce all the 

revenue or regular nature expenses incurred during the year from the revenue nature income 

in order to know the profit or loss of the business. The expenses involve both direct and 

indirect expenses. It helps in evaluating the performance of the business thereby taking 

adequate steps with respect to adoption of different strategies or policies for the achievement 

of the set profit decided by the proprietor or do we need to continue with the same. We get a 

clear indication about the burden of expenses over income so that cost effective measures 

could be taken. 

 iii)Depiction financial position 

 Accounting helps us to state the financial status of the business i.e the assets and liabilities 

which are there for the running of the business. It even gives an idea whether we have 

sufficient assets to meet the liabilities. 

iv) Provides effective control over the business 

 As accounting gives detail information about the production, cost, sales, direct and indirect 

expenses assets and liabilities which helps us in determining the deviation of the planned and 

actual performance which helps in the control of the business effectively. 

v) Making information available to various groups:-  

As business cannot run on the sole shoulder of the proprietor they have various stake holders 

like management, employees, consumers, investors, government debtors, and creditors etc. 

which are required to be duly informed about the running of the business; so that their stakes 

are maintained in the business without any risk. 
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 vi)To replace memory 

As any human being cannot remember each and every moment in his life so it is better to 

record each and everything in a systematic manner so that it can be referred and reviewed as 

and when required. As business being an ongoing process it is not humanly possible to 

remember everything 

 

 

vii)Facilitates Comparative Study 

As these records are prepared chronologically (date wise) systematically so the firm can 

easily compare the intra and inter firm comparison for the betterment of their performance 

with its competitors and also within the firm.  

viii) Facilitates settlement of tax liabilities 

A systematic accounting record immensely helps in the settlement of income tax, VAT, Sales 

tax, excise duty, as their payment indicates the legal liability of  the business. This gives a 

good image in the eyes of the government entry system, as well as public that we are abiding 

by all the rules and regulations framed by government 

 ix) in the court of law: -  

As accounting is prepared with the double and it only records those transactions which are 

backed by documentary evidence. Hence we have reasons for the recording of the 

transactions which can easily as a document of proof in the court of law. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note: - The above points which are mentioned as objectives of the Accounting can also 

be quoted as the advantages, merits, aim and even need of the business. 

OBJECTIVES OF 

ACCOUNTING 

Calculation of Profit & Loss  

Maintaining records of business 

transaction 

Depiction financial position 

transaction 
Provides effective control over 

the business. 

Making information available to 

various groups 

To replace memory 

Facilitates Comparative Study 
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1.1.4 NEED AND SCOPE OF ACCOUNTING  

  a)  As an information system: 

These days accounting act as information system. The collect information with respect to 

business is to be imparted to the various stake holders so that their confidence & loyalty is 

retained in the business. It relates to the past transaction but does not give any clue about the 

future. Still through accounting they can still analyze & interpret the condition and anticipate 

the future for the business. 

  b) Provides Historical Records: 

As in accounting we go by the concept of historical cost that is why everything that is 

recorded in the business relates to the time at which the event has occurred thereby not 

projecting a clear updated picture of the firm. 

  c) As a Service activity: 

Now a day it is viewed as a service activity. It provides quantitative financial information to 

its various users so that they can make useful economic decisions about the business 

existence. 

 

1.1.5 BRANCHES 

Accounting has the below mentioned subfields and branches: 

i)Book-Keeping:  
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Primary recording of the day-to-day transactions of any business unit and their subsequent 

posting into the Ledger Accounts are the functions of this part of accounting. As this part of 

the job of the Accountant is only keeping the proper records, it is therefore termed as Book-

Keeping. 

  

 

ii)Financial Accounting 

Accounting is a wider and comprehensive concept. It is an art of identifying, classifying,    

recording, summarizing and interpreting business transactions. It helps in preparation of 

financial statements, reporting the results and interpreting accounting information by 

analyzing the ratios, fund and cash flow statements. 

iii) Cost Accounting 

It is that branch of accounting which deals with cost of production and its various 

constituents. It is concerned with the classification, allocation, recording, summarizing and 

reporting current and perspective costs. It helps in serving the scope of business, as now a day 

a business cannot earn profit by increasing sales price rather we need to adopt cost effective 

measures to accelerate the profitability of the business. Cost accounting always helps in 

generating effectiveness & efficiency of the business. It even helps in determining unit cost at 

different levels of production. 

iv) Management Accounting 

It helps in assembling and furnishing the useful accounting information and furnishes it to the 

management for due decision making formulation of plan, policies, and strategies with 

respect to the achievement of organizational goals. Management accounting is an effective 

blending of financial and cost accounting together with financial management. As at the 

management sole aim to exist is to maximize profit through various means and methods. 

v) Tax Accounting 

This branch of accounting which is used for tax purpose is called tax accounting. On the basis 

of this accounting the permissible expenses as per Income Tax Act are only deducted to 

evaluate the income for taxation purpose. Generally it is different from the financial 

accounting as the process of calculation of income differs in both branches of Accounting. 
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vi)Social responsibility Accounting 

It is a new concept or rather a branch of accounting which provides for the answerability of 

the enterprise towards the society. It involves accounting for social cost incurred by the 

enterprise and social benefits created by it. 

 

vii)Decision Accounting 

This means that part of the functions of the Accountant by which he prepares and presents 

necessary information to the Management for making decisions. This function is one which 

has developed a great during the recent years. As and when there arises a particular problem 

in any business unit, the accounting personnel are thereupon called to present the necessary 

information in all possible details and in a most appropriate manner. Decision Accounting is 

thus, a part of the Managerial Accounting. 

 

viii) Household accounting
 

With the development of the Socialistic Pattern of economy and the emergence of the 

Welfare States, the present-days Governments in all the countries in the World are becoming 

more and more interested in collecting taxes not only form the corporate bodies of form the 

employed persons but also from the self-employed men and professional personalities. These 

types of persons are now required to maintain their professional accounts Household Income 

and Expenditure Accounts separately.
 

ix)Government Accounting:  

Government Accounting is quite different from Commercial Accounting. This is because in 

Welfare States is present day World, any Government has to collect taxes, compute National 

Income, fix the Gross National Product Target, ascertain the Balance of Payments position 

etc.governments, therefore have their own system of Accounting which is called Government 

Accounting. 

x) Auditing:  

Whether the Books of Accounting have been maintained correctly or not has to be proved. 

For this purpose, the Accounts are to be checked by some qualified persons from the Book of 
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Prime entry up to the Final Accounts every year. This is also necessary for the benefit of the 

share-holders as well as for the Government which will collect taxes on the basis of the 

Published Accounts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.1.6 LIMITATIONS OF ACCOUNTING 

Though accounting is very helpful for business for assessing the net worth profit and loss, 

assets and liabilities etc. of the business but still it suffers from serious lacunas and flaws: 

i)Incomplete information: -  

As it record only financial transactions only. It does not keep a track of the transactions 

which are non financial. They do not record the quantitative aspect of our transaction. Certain 

very important information like the quality of the product, efficiency of the management, 

honesty & loyalty of the employees, changes in the price level, inflation and government 

BRANCHES OF 

ACCOUNTING 

Financial 

Accounting 

Book Keeping 

Management Accounting 

Social responsibility 

accounting 

Auditing 

Decision 

Government accounting 

House holding Accounting 

Tax Accounting 

Cost Accounting 
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policies change in consumer preferences do not take a place in the accounting. But they 

seriously affect the financial soundness of the business. 

ii)  Inexactness: 

Though accounting evaluates the profit or loss but it is not exact or correct of fair as the 

depreciation of the asset is recorded irrespective of the appreciation value of the asset as we 

follow the concept of conservatism. The value of stock is measured not at the value at which 

is purchased. It varies as per the requirement of the business. We prepare provision & 

reserves for unforeseen losses which may incur or may not but they are posted to decrease the 

profit and decrease the value of assets. As different firms practices different methods of 

valuation so their results differ.  

iii)  Showing value less assets: 

There are assets which are recorded in the Balance sheet,  are recorded at the historical value 

which indicates that no matter the current price or market value of the asset is worth nothing 

or not even more than scrap. We record certain expenses which are deferred revenue in nature 

are also treated as assets which are fictitious in nature. These assets are goodwill, patents, 

trade mark, and loss on issue of shares, discount on issue of shares, preliminary expenses. 

These assets are doubtful and this could effect in depicting the true position of business. 

iv)Manipulation:  

Accounting results are based on the information or documents provided for preparation of 

accounting records. These documents can be changed or manipulated as per the whimps and 

fancies of the management. It may be done by omitting certain accounts, under estimating or 

over estimating the value assets. 

v)Accounting ignores the effect if price level changes:  

As in accounting if adopt the historical cost approach so we ignore the price level changes   

existing in the economy there by ignoring the true value of the business. Accounting 

presumes that value of money remains stable. It is very much correct that unless we 

incorporate price fluctuation on accounting. We will not be able to get true & fair value of the 

business or even its profitability. 

vi)Accounting may  lead to window dressing: This term implies that accounts are prepared 

as per requirement of the proprietor. Accountant prepares the accounts as per the desire of the 

proprietor. As when we go to a shop we only display the best of the products in the showcase 
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so that the consumers are attracted towards the shop to come & buy from the shop. In the 

same manner proprietor would like more & more stake holders to be a part of the business. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Progress-1 

Fill in the blanks 

i. The amount invested by owner of the business is called ……………  

ii. A person to whom goods are sold on credit is called a …………..  

iii. A person from whom goods are bought on credit is called a …………..  

iv. The amount withdrawn by the owner of the business for personal use is called 

………………….  

v. Liabilities payable within a period of one year are …………… liabilities.  

vi. Goods withdrawn by the proprietor of the business for personal use is called 

………………………  

 

 

1.2 BASIC ACCOUNTING TERMINOLOGY 

LIMITATIONS 

Incomplete information 

Inexactness 

Showing value less 

Accounting ignores the effect 

of price level 

Manipulations 

Accounting may lead to 

window dressing. 
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Learning Objective   :- 

 

After studying this sub unit you would be able to – 

Explain: 

Assets,liabilities,Expenses,Income,Capital,Expenditure,Revenue,Debtors,Credito

rs 

Goods,Cost,Gain,Stock,Purchase,Sales,Loss,Profit,Voucher,Discount,DebitNote, 

credit Note 

 

1.2.1 ASSETS: 

The valuable things owned by the business are known as assets.  

 It can be tangible (which can be touched or seen i.e. which has physical 

existence).  For example land, building, cash, stock, furniture etc.  

 It can be intangible (which cannot be touched or seen i.e. which has no 

physical existence).  

      For example: - goodwill, patents, and trademarks. 

The other classifications of assets are: 

 Current assets: Assets which can be easily converted into cash, its convertibility 

should not take more than a year. These assets are also known as fluctuating, 

floating or circulating assets as their value do not remain constant.  

For example:–Cash, Cash at bank, Stock, Bills receivable 

 Liquid assets: - Assets which can be converted into cash faster than current assets, 

its convertibility should not take more than a year. These assets are also known as 

Quick assets.  

 

 Fixed assets: Assets which cannot be easily converted into cash, its convertibility 

should take more than a year. They are there in the business for long term as they 

enhance or accelerate the productivity and profitability of the business. They are 

not meant for sale. Money spent on its acquisition is non recurring in nature. 

      For example-Land, Building, Free hold premises, Machinery etc. 

 Fictitious Assets:– They are actually not assets but on legal and technical grounds 

they are considered so. They are intangible in nature, as they do not have a physical 
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form. They are actually re venue expenses which are also termed as deferred 

revenue expenditure i.e. whose benefits we derive for a longer duration of time. 

 For example: -   Advertising expenses, preliminary expenses, loss on issue of 

shares /debentures. The above expenses if charged on one financial year would 

affect the profitability of the business very badly. Hence like assets they are 

gradually written off from the business. 

 Wasting Assets: - An asset whose value tends to decline with the passage of time is 

called wasting assets.  

    For example: - Mine 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Classification of Assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ASSETS 

Current Asset 

Tangible Asset 

Fictitious Asset 

Wasting Asset 

Liquid Asset 

Intangible Asset 

Fixed Asset 
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1.2.2 LIABILITIES 

These are obligations or debts of a business, which is to be paid after a certain period 

of time. Liabilities can be categorized. i.e.  

On the basis of time 

 Fixed liability: Debt or financial obligation to be paid off after a long period 

i.e. after 5 years they are basically shares, debentures, long term loans etc.  

 Current liability: Liabilities payable within an accounting year is termed as 

current liability. Liabilities of this nature are not constant .It comprises of 

creditors, short term loans, bills payable ,bank overdraft,  outstanding 

expenses etc. 

 Contingent liability: It is actually not a liability but future events decide 

whether it will be a liability or not. Due its uncertainty they are termed as 

contingent (doubtful).The value of contingent liability is not shown in the 

Liabilities side of the Balance sheet but it is shown in the footnote either inside 

/outside the balance sheet. For example- 

a) Cases pending in court 

b) Guarantee undertaken 

c) Value of bill discounted 

On the basis of ownership 

 Owner’s Fund: Amount invested by the proprietor (owner) of the business in 

its own business is termed as owner‘s equity or fund. It basically comprises of 

capital, share capital, reserves or retained earnings, accumulated profits. It is 

also known as internal equity. It is only to be paid at the time of winding up of 

the company. They are generally long term in nature. 

 Borrowed Fund: –Amount to be paid to the third parties of the business. 

These are financial obligation to be paid after certain duration. It can be long 

term, short term or midterm. Long term funds carry a certain rate of interest 

and are also generally secured in nature so that in case of nonpayment these 

assets can be utilized for recovery. 
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1.2.2 EXPENSES 

It is the cost incurred in producing goods and services in the process of earning 

revenues. According to Vinney & Miller ―Expense is the cost of use of things or 

services for the purpose of generating revenue”. Expenses are voluntarily incurred to 

generate income. Thus expenses include-  

 Cost of goods purchases for  sale or production 

 Amount paid for general business expenses such as salary, rent, stationary etc. 

 Depreciation which indicates the usage of assets during the process of production. 

 An amount written off out of debtors as bad debt provision for doubtful debts i.e. 

whether the debtor would make the payment or not being a doubt. A special 

provision is made for the same and entered in the book and is treated as Expense 

1.2.3 INCOME: 

It is the difference between the Revenue and expense incurred during the process of 

production or trade. It increases in the net worth of enterprise either from business 

activity or any other activity. It is a wider term and includes profit also. 

Income is the reason corporations exist, and are often the single most important 

determinant of a stock's price. Income is important to investors because they give an 

indication of the company's expected future dividends and its potential for growth and 

capital appreciation. That does not necessarily mean that low or negative earnings 

always indicate a bad stock; for example, many young companies report negative 

income as they attempt to grow quickly enough to capture a new market, at which 

Liabilities 

On the basis of time 

On the basis of ownership 

Fixed Liabilities 

Current Liabilities 

Contingent Liabilities 

Owner’s fund 

Borrowed fund 

http://www.investorwords.com/4584/single.html
http://www.investorwords.com/4725/stock.html
http://www.investorwords.com/3807/price.html
http://www.investorwords.com/2630/investor.html
http://www.investorwords.com/10666/potential.html
http://www.investorwords.com/2258/growth.html
http://www.investorwords.com/695/capital_appreciation.html
http://www.investorwords.com/10392/negative.html
http://www.investorwords.com/1618/earnings.html
http://www.investorwords.com/10019/indicate.html
http://www.investorwords.com/992/company.html
http://www.investorwords.com/9882/grow.html
http://www.investorwords.com/2962/market.html
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Capital 

Fixed 
capital 

Current 
Capital 

Working 
Capital 

point they'll be even more profitable than they otherwise might have been also called 

earnings. 

For example: - Rent received from property, Interest received from financial 

securities, profit earned from the sale of goods. 

1.2.4 CAPITAL 

The amount invested by the owner of the business is termed as Capital. It can be in 

cash or kind. It is used also known as owner‘s equity. As per accounting concept as the 

business & the business man distinct legal entity, that is why the amount invested by 

the owner is considered liability for the business. It is refunded only at the time of 

winding up of the business. They are basically categorized as- 

 Fixed capital: The capital which is invested in acquiring fixed assets is called 

fixed capital. The amount involved is huge and is for long term. The amount 

invested by the owner that is owner’s equity comes in this category. 

 Working capital: The amount required for the day to day running of the 

business is termed as Working capital. This capital depicts the short term 

financial position of the business. The difference between current assets 

&current liabilities gives the value of working capital. 

 Current capital or Floating capital: -  Assets purchased with the intention of 

sales such as stock and investment are termed Current capital 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2.5 EXPENDITURE 

Expenditure is the amount spent in the acquisition of assets. It involves huge amount 

which is too spared by the business to meet its long term needs. It is recorded in the 

asset side of Balance sheet. It is incurred to accelerate the profit earning capacity of 

the business. The decision with respect to expenditure are very crucial as they are 

http://www.investorwords.com/7194/profitable.html
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irreversible and highly risky, one wrong decision can even lead to the closure of the 

business. They are also known as Capital Budgeting decision.  

For example: - Purchase of land, building machine. 

 

 

 

1.2.6 REVENUE 

Amount realized from the sale of goods and services is termed as revenue. Any sale of 

asset or any other capital gain will not comprise revenue. The amount should be 

received from the day to day affairs of the business.  

For example-For land lord rent will be his revenue, broker will earn his revenue from 

commission whereas shopkeeper will earn revenue from the s ale of goods. It should 

not be confused with income as Income is the difference of revenue &expenses. 

 

1.2.7 DEBTOR 

It refers to person to whom we have sold goods on credit and they have promised to 

make the payment on a later date. They are known as Debtors .They are the current 

assets of the business.  

For example: - We sold to Mr.Antim goods worth Rs.50,000 on credit, he has 

promised to make its payment after a month, then he will remain our debtor  till he 

makes the payment to us. 

 

1.2.8 CREDITOR 

It refers to person from whom we have purchased the goods on credit and we have 

promised to make the payment on a later date. They are known as Creditors. They are 

the current liabilities of the business.  

For example: - We  purchases goods worth Rs.50,000 on credit from Mr.Aarambh,  

we  have promised to make its payment after a month, then we will remain his 

creditor  till we makes the payment to him. 

 

1.2.9 GOODS  
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Goods are the commodities in which the business deals. They are basically those 

articles which are purchased with the intent of sale and thereby earn profit. This 

basically stands for trading concern but for manufacturing firm their raw material are 

the goods for the firm.  

For example-For a stationary shop the furniture, almirahs, shop will be the asset but 

the pencils, pens, erasers and other stationary product will be its goods. The above 

example is of a trading concern where as if a person is manufacturing furniture then 

wood will be its goods as well as the finished product which produced to sale will also 

be goods. 

 

1.2.10 COST 

An expense which is incurred to make the product and make it sales worthy in case of 

manufacturing firms or procure the product to reach the customer is termed as cost. It 

includes purchase of goods or raw material and direct expenses incurred in acquiring 

and manufacturing goods. It can be even classified as direct cost and Indirect cost.  

 Direct cost includes those expenses which are incurred on the goods 

purchased till they are brought to the place of business for sale.   

         For example: - freight inwards, insurance, customs duty clearing charges, 

octroi duty etc. In a manufacturing business cost incurred for the purpose of 

production such as wages power fuel, factory rent etc. 

 Indirect cost includes those cost which are incurred after the production and 

beyond the factory gate.  

For example: - Administration and office expenses, selling and distribution 

expenses, financial expenses. 

 

 

 

1.2.11 GAIN 

It is a profit which arises from the transaction incidental to business such as sale of 

investment or fixed assets at a value more than the book value. It increases the 

owner‘s equity .It may be of capital nature or revenue or both. This gain could be 

realized or unrealized.  

1.2.12 STOCK 
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The unsold part of goods available in the business is termed as Stock on a particular 

date. The value of quantity of stock either increases or decreases every time. In 

accounting we use the term opening stock and closing stock. Opening stock is the 

amount unsold goods available on the first day of the accounting year, whereas 

closing stock indicates the value of goods available in the last day of the accounting 

year. There will be no opening stock for the business which has just commenced. 

Stock is valued at cost price or market price whichever is lower.  

For example: - If an accounting is starts on 1
st
 January to 31

st
 December. Then the 

goods which are unsold available on 1
st
 January in a running business is termed as 

opening stock and the availability of unsold goods on 31
st
 December is termed as 

closing stock for the year. In case of manufacturing enterprises stock is classified as:- 

 Stock of raw material: - If a firm prepares furniture then the wood logs 

available in the business will be termed as stock of raw material. 

 Stock of work in progress: - If the same woods are cut into planks are 

assemble as tables but not polished and painted they will be termed as stock of 

work in progress.  

 Stock of finished: -The complete goods which are ready for sale but lying in 

the business will be termed as stock of finished. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note: - All the above stock have their opening and closing. 

STOCK 

Opening Stock 

Closing Stock 

Stock of raw 

Stock of finished goods 

Stock of work in 

Opening Stock 

Opening Stock 

Closing Stock 

Closing Stock 
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1.2.13 PURCHASES 

This term is exclusively used in accounts when we buy goods for the business, i.e. the 

product which bought with the intent to sales. Purchase term is not used when we buy 

assets. In trading concerns goods are purchased and whereas in the manufacturing 

concerns raw materials are purchased and process further into finished goods for 

resale purposes. 

For example: -  If we are furniture dealer the woods we buy will be termed as 

purchase where as for a stationary shop same furniture bought will not be termed 

because that is not purchased with the intent of sale. 

If the goods are purchased for cash it is termed as cash purchase and if they are 

purchased on credit i.e. with the promise to pay sometime later is termed as credit 

purchase. Both appear in trading account the debit side. 

If the goods are returned by the purchaser to seller is termed as purchase return which 

is to be deducted from the total purchase to get to know the net purchase. 

1.2.14 SALES 

This term is exclusively used for the sale of the goods in which the business deals i.e. 

the goods are bought or processed with the intent for resale purposes. This term is 

never used while we sale of assets; however it includes revenue generated from 

services rendered to customers. Sale of building will not be a part of sales whereas the 

business if selling a sofa in a furnishing house will be part of the sales. 

If goods are sold for cash, it is termed as cash sales and if they are sold for credit it is 

termed as Cash sales and if they are sold for credit it is termed as Credit Sales. It is 

shown on the credit side of trading account. 

Sales Return: - If the goods sold to customer are returned by a buyer is termed as 

sales return or return inward. It is shown in the trading account a/c is to be deducted 

from Total Sales. 

1.2.15 LOSS: 

Excess of expenses over revenue of a business is termed as Loss. Actually they are the 

unwanted burden which every business fears off.  Losses are actually different from 
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expenses, as expenses are voluntarily incurred to generate income where as losses are 

forced to bear. 

For example: - Loss by theft, Loss by fire, flood, storm etc. 

Losses adversely affect the profit of the business, so it should be the sincere effort of 

every firm to adopt preventive measure to minimize the losses. 

1.2.16 PROFIT 

The excess of revenue over total expenses of a business entity for an accounting 

period is termed as profit. Profit may be even termed as Sales proceeds over cost of 

goods sold are termed as profit to be very specific gross profit. Whereas net profit is 

generated by deducting indirect expense and adding indirect income would help to 

calculate. It is finally used to add to the capital of the proprietor and the same is taken 

as the base to calculate income tax for taxation purpose. 

1.2.17 VOUCHER 

In Accounting we only record those transactions of the business which are supported 

by documentary evidence. These documentary proofs are vouchers. It comprises of a 

cash memo, bill, receipt, invoice etc. They are the basis of accounting. They are used 

for verification and auditing of records. It also helps in detecting frauds in the 

business. It should comprise of date, amount paid, name of the giver, purpose of 

payment and should be duly signed by the competent authority with the firm‘s seal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TRANSACTION VOUCHER 

Name of Firm 

Voucher No. : -                                                   Date: -  

Debit Account: 

Credit Account:  

Amount: 

Narration:  

Authorized by:                                                     Prepared by:  



[25] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2.18 DISCOUNT: 

DEBIT VOUCHER 

Name of Firm 

Voucher No. : -                                                   Date: -  

Credit Account:  

Amount: 

Debit Accounts 

S.No. Account Name 
Amount  

(Rs.) 

Narration 

(Explanation 

    

    

    

 

Authorized by:                                                     Prepared by:  

CREDIT VOUCHER 

Name of Firm 

Voucher No. : -                                                   Date: -  

Debit Account:  

Amount: 

Credit Accounts 

S.No. Account Name 
Amount  

(Rs.) 

Narration 

(Explanation 

    

    

    

 

Authorized by:                                                     Prepared by:  
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It is the reduction in the list price or price for obtaining payment before it becomes 

due for payment. It is classified into two categories:- 

 Cash Discount: - These are discount which an allowance or concession 

given by the seller to the purchaser for giving early payment so that there 

is less blocking of funds and production in the number of debtors. It is 

recorded in the books of account. 

 Trade Discount: - It is the discount which is given by the supplier to 

increase the volume of sales. Trader issues this discount on the invoice 

price. It is not recorded in books of accounts. Normally rate of discount 

increases with the increase in the amount of sales.   

1.2.19 DEBIT NOTE 

In case of Purchase return when we send the goods back to the seller then he is 

required to pay the amount less than those of the goods returned.  

For example: - If we have purchased goods worth Rs.20, 000 and we didn‘t find 

goods of Rs 5000 up to our expectation .We returned the goods to Mr.A.Then he is 

expected to issue a note acknowledging the amount either to be deducted from the 

total due amount or issue a Debit Note which states that he is our debtor for amount of 

goods returned by us.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2.20 CREDIT NOTE 

Name of the firm issuing the Note 

No.                                                                                         Address of the firm 

Date of issue 

 

DEBIT NOTE 

Against: Supplier’s Name 

Goods returned as per Delivery                                          Amount: 

           Challan No.  

(Details of Goods returned) 

                                 (Rs............ only) 

Signature of the Manager with date 
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    In case of sales return goods are received back, so allowance is to be given to the purchaser 

for the sale of goods returned by him. 

 For example: - If we sold goods worth Rs.40, 000 to Mrs.A and if she didn‘t find goods 

worth Rs.10, 000 as per specification she can return back the goods, when she returns we are 

expected to write a Credit note for the amount of goods returned so that she is not required to 

pay for the whole amount i.e. 40,000 but only pay 30,000.  

Credit note makes the purchaser a creditor for the amount of goods he has returned to us. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Progress-2  

 

Name of the firm issuing the Note 

No.                                                                                         Address of the firm 

Date of issue 

CREDIT NOTE 

Against: Customer’s Name 

Goods returned by the customer                                         Amount: 

           Challan No.  

(Details of Goods received) 

                                 (Rs............ only) 

Signature of the Manager with date 

Note: - The credit note is issued to debtors only. 
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Fill in the blanks: 

  

a) …………. Discount is never recorded in the books of accounts.  

b)Assets which have no physical appearance are known as …………assets.  

c)Assets which have physical appearance are known as ……………..assets.  

d)Assets which are converted into cash within a period of one year are called …………. 

Assets. (current/short term) 

e)Bank overdraft is a current …………….. (Liability) 

 

 

Let Us Sum Up (Summary) 

 

a) Accounting is viewed as an information system which provides useful accounting 

information to various user of the accounting service for arriving at rational decision. 

b) Accounting is the systematic recorded presentation of financial nature of the 

enterprise 

c) ―Accounting may be defined as the identifying, measuring, recording and 

communicating of financial information‖.  

d) One of the main objectives of the existence of the business is earning profit. At the 

end of the accounting year an Income statement is prepared which comprise of 

Trading, Profit & Loss account of the business. 

e) The valuable things owned by the business are known as assets 

f) The amount invested by the owner of the business is termed as Capital 

g) It refers to person to whom we have sold goods on credit and they have promised to 

make the payment on a later date. They are known as Debtors It refers to person from 

whom we have purchased the goods on credit and we have promised to make the 

payment on a later date. They are known as Creditors 
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ANSWERS 

 

PROGRESS-1 

a) Capital 

b) Debtor 

c) Creditors 

d) Drawing 

e) Current 

 

\           PROGRESS-2 

             a)Trade 

             b)Intangible 

             c)Tangible 

             d)current/short term 

             e)Liability 

 

 

 

 

  

Unit-2: Accounting Concepts and 
Conventions 
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INTRODUCTION  

Accounting is the language of business. When we speak in any language, our intention is our 

ideas are to be understood by others. Language can be understood only when words used by 

us convey the same meaning to the listener. Both the speaker and listener should mean the 

same for the words used. Equally, every language has grammar of its own. When we write or 

speak, we follow the principles of grammar. Similar is the case with accounting.  

Most of the activities, be it official, social or personal, are guided by a set of certain rules or 

conventions. Some of the conventions are as follows:  

 In India, we always drive on the left hand side of the road.  

 Overtaking the vehicle, either two-wheeler or four-wheeler, is to be made on the right 

side, alone.  

 As a citizen of India, we are guided by certain rules and regulations.  

Also as a citizen, we are supposed to obey the law of this country and so on. While preparing 

the accounts, the accountant is often faced with the problem as to how exactly a transaction 

or event is to be recorded in the books of accounts and shown in the Profit and Loss account 

and Balance Sheet. There are differences of views on many matters. However, accountants 

have come to an agreement about some fundamental principles, concepts and conventions. 

These are always kept in mind when an accounting transaction is recorded. 

The word ‗Principle‘ has been differently viewed by different schools of thought. The 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) has viewed the word ‗principle‘ 

as a general law of rule adopted or professed as a guide to action; a settled ground or basis of 

conduct of practice‖  

Accounting principles refer, to certain rules, procedures and conventions which represent a 

consensus view by those indulging in good accounting practices and procedures. Canadian 

Institute of Chartered Accountants defined accounting principle as ―the body of doctrines 

commonly associated with the theory and procedure of accounting, serving as an explanation 

of current practices as a guide for the selection of conventions or procedures where 

alternatives exist. Rules governing the formation of accounting axioms and the principles 

derived from them have arisen from common experiences, historical precedent, statements by 
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individuals and professional bodies and regulations of Governmental agencies‖. To be more 

reliable, accounting statements are prepared in conformity with these principles. If not, 

chaotic conditions would result. But in reality as all the businesses are not alike, each one has 

its own method of accounting. However, to be more acceptable, the accounting principles 

should satisfy the following three basic qualities, viz., relevance, objectivity and feasibility. 

The accounting principle is considered to be relevant and useful to the extent that it increases 

the utility of the records to its readers. It is said to be objective to the extent that it is 

supported by the facts and free from personal bias. It is considered to be feasible to the extent 

that it is practicable with the least complication or cost. Though accounting principles are 

denoted by various terms such as concepts, conventions, doctrines, tenets, assumptions, 

axioms, postulates, etc., it can be classified into two groups, viz., accounting concepts and 

accounting conventions. 

NEED OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES  

In the olden days, the common form of business has been sole proprietor or partnership firm. 

It has been sufficient, if they have understood the accounting records. Their financial 

statements are personal and confidential character, which are not shared as public documents. 

In the case of joint stock companies, the financial statements are public documents. In 

modern days, joint stock companies, be it private limited or public limited, has become the 

normal form of business. There are several parties interested in their financial statements 

ranging from shareholders, creditors, employees and Government to potential investors. If 

every business follows its own accounting practices, the final accounts may not be 

understandable to all such parties in a similar and uniform manner. Unless the accounting 

transactions are recorded according to certain definite principles, it becomes difficult to 

maintain uniformity of understanding. Hence, a definite need has been felt to follow uniform 

accounting principles from the stage of recording the transactions to the stage of preparing 

financial statements.  

Accounting principles are the rules based on assumptions, customs, 

usages and traditions for recording transactions.  
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GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES  

Transactions are recorded in accounts, following certain fundamentals, concepts and 

conventions, which are called as Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  

Accounting principles may be defined as those rules of action or 

conduct, which are adopted by the accountants, universally, while 

recording the transactions.  

The chief objective behind the accounting principles is that the accounting statements should 

be both reliable and informative. This objective can be achieved when there is certain 

common agreement and compliance about the accounting principles.  

Every profession has developed its own jargon and vocabulary. Like all other professions, 

accounting has also developed its own concepts and conventions. These concepts and 

conventions have been evolved after centuries of experimentation and their use have, now, 

become accepted principles.  

“Accounting” is based on a number of rules or conventions, which 

have evolved over time.  

These principles are known as generally accepted accounting principles.  

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) may be defined as those rules of action 

or conduct, which are derived from experience and practice, and when they prove useful, they 

are accepted as principles of accounting.  

They are, however, not rigid. They are subject to change. They have evolved in order to deal 

with practical problems experienced by a preparer and a user rather than to reflect some 

theoretical ideal.  

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) is a term used to 

describe, broadly, the body of principles that governs the accounting 
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for financial transactions underlying the preparation of a set of 

financial statements.  

However, it should be mentioned, at the outset, that an application of many concepts does 

involve subjective judgment about the selection of methods available for choice, on the part 

of a person who is preparing the accounts. Depreciation can be provided on fixed assets, 

either on the basis of straight-line method or written down method. Both the methods are 

recognised. Same financial data, if different methods are applied, shows different financial 

results. This means that two different persons using the same source data could produce two 

entirely different sets of financial statements, with different operational results and financial 

position. There is no difference of opinion whether depreciation on fixed assets is to be 

provided or not. Here, the subjective judgment relates to selection of method of depreciation 

and not providing for depreciation on the fixed assets.  

According to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), the principles, 

which have substantial authoritative support, become a part of the generally accepted 

accounting principles.  

Accounting principles are divided into two categories:  

 Accounting Concepts  

 Accounting Conventions  

CHARACTERISTICS OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

Accounting principles are accepted if they possess the following characteristics. The general 

acceptance of the accounting principles or practices depends upon how well they meet the 

following criteria:  

1. Objectivity:  

Objectivity connotes reliability and trustworthiness. A principle is objective to the extent 

when the accounting information is not influenced by personal bias or judgment of those 

who provide it. This implies that accounting information is prepared and reported in a 

―neutral‖ way. In other words, it is not biased towards a particular user group or vested 
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interest. It also implies verifiability, which means that there is some way of ascertaining the 

correctness of the information reported.  

2. Application:  

Application of the principle must be possible. In case, the principle is only theoretical and 

has no practical utility or application, then the principle has no value.  

3. Reliability:  

This implies that the accounting information that is presented is truthful, accurate, complete 

(nothing significant missed out) and capable of being verified (e.g. by a potential investor).  

4. Feasibility:  

A principle is feasible to the extent it can be implemented without much complexity or cost.  

5. Understandability:  

The accounting principle should be simple and easily understandable by all. This implies that 

the accounting information should be in such a way that it is easily understandable to users - 

who are generally assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic 

activities.  

ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS  

The term ‗Accounting Concept‘ refers to assumptions and conditions on which the 

accounting is based. Basic assumptions of accounting can never be ignored.  

Accounting concepts are necessary assumptions or conditions, which 

form a basis of accounting.  

The term ‗concept‘ is used to denote accounting postulates, i.e., basic assumptions or 

conditions upon the edifice of which the accounting super-structure is based. The following 

are the common accounting concepts adopted by many business concerns.  

1. Business Entity Concept 
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2. Money Measurement Concept 

3. Dual Aspect Concept  

4. Going Concern Concept 

5. Historical Cost Concept  

6. Periodicity/Accounting Period Concept 

7. Matching Concept 

8. Realisation Concept  

9. Accrual Concept 

10.  Objective Evidence Concept  

The different accounting concepts are discussed under the following heads:  

1. Business/Separate Entity Concept:  

According to this concept, business is considered as a separate entity, distinct from the 

persons who own it. This concept is also known as ‗Business Entity Concept‘. In other 

words, business is treated as a unit or entity apart from its owner, creditors and others. It may 

appear strange that a person can sell goods for himself. However, it would make sense once 

it is understood that the private affairs of the proprietor are to be made separate from the 

business. Let us take a practical example in our daily life. If the daughters of the proprietor 

take away the garments they like from their father‘s boutique shop and these transactions are 

not recorded with the reasoning that the business and proprietor are not different, what is the 

consequence? The yearend accounts show shortage of stock as they are not recorded, at all. 

Manager of the shop may be made accountable for the shortages shown. Business may show 

reduced profits or even loss due to the fancy habits of the daughters of the proprietor. 

Remember, the proprietor has more than one daughter and their habits are fancier too! For 

this reason, capital invested by proprietor/partner of a business is shown as capital, under the 

liability side. Consumption of garments is treated as personal withdrawal and those 

transactions may be recorded, at best, at their cost price. In the absence of such treatment, 

profit would be low and financial position is distorted.  

Separate entity concept already exists, legally, in a joint stock company. Even in the 

sole proprietor and partnership firms, this concept of „separate entity‟, though does 

not legally exist, is presumed to exist for accounting treatment.  
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This concept has now been extended for various divisions of a firm in order to ascertain the 

results of each division, separately.  

Separate Entity Concept has given birth to the concept of „Responsibility 

Accounting‟ for determining the operational results of each responsibility centre.  

2. Money Measurement Concept  

Accounting records only those transactions that can be expressed, in terms of money, though 

quantitative records are kept, additionally. If the events or transactions cannot be expressed in 

monetary value, however important they are, they are not recorded in accounts. Services of 

the finance manager and chief executive officer are very valuable and due to their significant 

contribution, the firm might have turned from its earlier loss making position into a profit-

making firm. Their presence in the firm is valuable and their exit may be a serious bolt to its 

continued success. Though they are assets to the firm, in the real sense, but monetary 

measurement is not possible so accounting books do not exhibit them. Qualities like 

workforce skill, morale, market-leadership, brand recognition, quality of management etc 

cannot be quantified in monetary terms and so not accounted for in books of accounts.  

The money measurement concept increases the true understanding of the state of 

affairs of the business. 

For example, if a business has a cash balance of Rs.20,000, plot of land 5,000 square metres, 

two air-conditioners, 1,000 kg of raw materials, 20 machines and 50 chairs and tables and so 

on, there is absence of money measurement concept. These different types of assets cannot be 

added to give useful information. One cannot assess the worth of the firm. But, if the same 

are expressed in terms of money in accounts – Rs.20,000 cash balance, Rs.2 lakhs of plot, 

Rs.40,000 of air-conditioners, Rs.2,52,000 of raw materials, Rs.4,60,000 of machines and 

Rs.2,35,000 of furniture (chairs and tables) – it is possible to add them and use them for any 

comparison and understanding the financial position of the firm. When the value of the assets 

is expressed in terms of money, precise information is available with intelligible financial 

picture and is more useful for any other purpose.  
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3. Dual Aspect Concept  

This is the basic concept of accounting. As per this concept, for every debit, there is a 

corresponding credit. In other words, when a transaction is recorded, debit amount has to be 

equal to the credit amount. This is also known as ‗Double Entry Principle‘. No transaction is 

complete without double aspect.  

When a new business is started with a capital of Rs. one lakh, the position is expressed as 

under:  

Capital (Equities)  =  Cash (Assets) 

1,00,000  =  1,00,000 

The term „Assets‟ denotes the resources owned by the business, while the term 

„Equities‟ denotes the various claims of the parties against those assets.  

Equities are of two types. They are owner‘s equity and outsider ‘s equity. Owner ‘s equity (or 

capital) is the claim of owners against the assets of the business. Outsider‘s equity (or 

liabilities) is the claim of the outsiders such as creditors, loan providers and debenture-

holders against the assets of the company.  

Someone, either owner or outsider, has a claim against the assets of the business. So, the total 

value of the assets is equal to the total value of capital and liabilities. 

Equities  =  Assets 

Capital + Liabilities  =  Assets  

In the above situation, if an outsider (creditor) has supplied machinery for Rs.50,000 on 

credit, the situation would appear as follows:  

Capital Rs.1,00,000 + Creditors Rs.50,000 = Cash Rs.1,00,000 + Machinery Rs.50,000  

If the business has acquired an asset, the source could be any one of the following:  

a) New asset is in place of an asset given up; or  
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b) Liability has been created for its acquisition; or  

c) There has been profit to purchase; or  

d) The proprietor has contributed more capital to finance.  

Similarly, if there is an increase in liability, there must have been an increase in assets. 

Alternatively, loss would have reduced the capital, to that extent, with a similar reduction in 

assets. Thus, at any time  

Assets   =  Capital + Liabilities 

Capital  =  Assets – Liabilities 

The above is known as ‗Accounting Equation‘. This would indicate that the owner‘s share is 

always equal to the left out assets, after paying off the outsiders.  

The term „Accounting Equation‟ is used to denote the relationship of equities to 

assets.  

The above concept establishes the arithmetical accuracy of the accounts and enables detection 

of the errors in accounting and provides a strict watch on the activities of the employees.  

4. Going Concern Concept  

The underlying idea of this concept is that the business would continue for a fairly long 

period to come. Accounting transactions are recorded from this point of view. On account of 

this concept, accountant does not take into account the market value of the fixed asset (forced 

value of asset, as if business would be liquidated) for preparing balance sheet. Depreciation is 

charged on the original cost of the fixed assets on the basis of the expected lives, considering 

that the business would continue, in future, at least for a reasonable period, at least sufficient 

to the life of the assets. At the time of preparing the final accounts, we take into consideration 

the outstanding expenses and prepaid expenses on the presumption that the business will 

continue in future too.  

It is to be noted that the „Going Concern Concept‟ does not imply permanent 

continuation of the enterprise, indefinitely.  
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It rather presumes that the enterprise will continue in operation long enough that the cost of 

the fixed assets would be charged over the usual lives of the assets. Moreover, the concept 

applies to the business, as a whole. Even if a branch or division of the business were closed, 

ability of the business to continue would not be affected.  

5. Cost Concept  

Cost concept is closely related to the ‗Going Concern Concept‘. Cost is the basis for all 

accounting in respect of fixed assets. If a plot of land is purchased at Rs.1,00,000, it has to be 

shown at that amount, even though the subsequent market price becomes Rs. 1,50,000. In 

other words, the subsequent changes in the market price are ignored. Even if the price falls to 

Rs. 80,000, the fall is equally ignored in respect of fixed assets.  

Cost concept brings the advantage of objectivity in the preparation and 

presentation of financial statements. In the absence of this concept, accounting 

records would have depended on the subjective views of the persons.  

It does not mean that the fixed assets are valued at the historic cost, original price at which 

they are acquired, for all the years. At the time of purchase, they are recorded at the original 

cost and later depreciation is charged, based on the original cost. For presentation in the 

Balance Sheet, depreciation is deducted from the original cost and net value is shown on the 

assets side. Thus, the fixed asset depreciates during the economic life of the asset and, finally, 

is sold as scrap.  

Cost concept is applied to fixed assets only. Current assets are not affected by 

this concept.  

However, cost concept is largely becoming irrelevant due to continued inflationary 

tendencies. This is the growing reason for inflation accounting.  

6. Accounting Period Concept  

According to the ‗Going Concern Concept‘, every business would exist for a longer duration. 

That longer duration is divided into appropriate segments or periods for studying the results 

shown by the business for each period.  
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After each period, it is necessary to „stop‟ and „see back‟ how things have been 

going. So, it is necessary to maintain accounts with reference to a specific period.  

The specific period is normally one year. This time interval is called ‗accounting period‘. At 

the end of each accounting year, Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet are prepared. 

Profit and Loss Accounts shows the financial results, while Balance Sheet shows the financial 

position. When making comparison, the accounting period should be similar. In other words, 

results of one year cannot be compared with the results of another period where the period 

has been only six months. Suitable adjustments are to be made before comparison of results 

of different periods for proper evaluation and conclusion.  

7. Matching Concept—Periodic Matching of Costs and Revenues Concept  

This concept is also known as ‗Matching Concept‘. The main motto of every business is to 

make maximum profits, at the earliest. Hence, every one tries to find out the cost and revenue 

during a particular accounting period and compare the financial results with preceding year to 

find out whether the business is progressing or going down. Unless the costs are associated 

properly with the revenues of the corresponding period, misleading results would appear. It is 

necessary to match the revenues with the costs of that particular period to know the profit or 

loss during that period. For example, if a salesman is to be paid commission for the sales 

made, for comparison of sales, it is immaterial whether the commission is paid or not. If sales 

are made in the month of March (year 2006-07) and commission, in cash, is paid in the 

subsequent month, April (year 2007-08), it is necessary to make provision for the 

commission in the year 2006-07 for proper comparison of the net profits.  

Efforts and accomplishments are to be matched for proper presentation of 

operational results.  

Excess of accomplishments over efforts is called profits. On account of this concept, 

adjustments for prepaid expenses, outstanding expenses, accrued income and unearned 

income have to be made, while preparing the accounts, at the end of the year, for proper 

comparison of profits of different years.  

Matching concept requires suitable adjustment for deferred expenditure. What is meant by 

deferred expenditure? Deferred expenditure is that amount of expenditure that has been 
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incurred but not charged to profit and loss account and postponed for charging against a 

future period. The argument is the benefit of the expenditure would last over the future 

period. Deferred expenditure is amortized on the basis of this matching concept. Relying on 

this concept, the deferred expenditure would be charged against the future incomes of the 

business. The classical example is Research & Development expenditure. Benefit of R & D 

expenditure would last for a considerable period. So, it is appropriate to charge the 

expenditure over the future period, spread in installments. The underlying idea is that the 

benefit of income should bear the share of expenditure as future income is the consequence of 

the expenditure incurred, in the past. So, the expenditure is matched to the income period.  

8. Realisation Concept  

According to this concept, profit is recognised as and when realised. Now, the important 

issue is, what the actual point of sale is and when profit is deemed to have been accrued?  

Sale is deemed to have taken place, when the title to the property or goods passes 

from the seller to the buyer.  

To make the point clear, let us take a small example. Radhi & Co, a boutique shop owner has 

placed an order with Dheera & Co for supply of ready-made garments. On receiving the 

order, Dheera & Co has purchased the required cloth, engaged labour and started 

manufacturing too. As per the terms of the agreement, Dheera & Co has received advance too 

from Radhi & Co, before execution of the order. Now, the issue is what is the actual time of 

sale? Is it at the time of receiving the order, time of receiving the advance, placing the order 

for supply of cloth and engaging the labour? The actual time of sale is when the goods are 

delivered by Dheera & Co to Radhi & Co. Till such time, no profit can be recognised.  

Time of transfer of property is material as that point determines the time of 

recognition of Profit.  

However, there are two exceptions to the above rule: 

a) In case of hire purchase sale, ownership of goods passes from the seller to the buyer 

only when the last installment is paid. This is from the legal view point. However, 

sales are presumed to have been made to the extent of the installment received and 
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installment outstanding (i.e. installment is due, but not received). In other words, 

profit is recognised by the seller on installments received and due, without waiting for 

the receipt of last installment. The later is accounting view-point for recognition of 

profits. Reason is simple. Otherwise, there would be no profit, till the last installment 

period.  

 

b) In case of contract accounts, the contractor may be liable to pay only when the whole 

work is completed as per the terms of the contract. However, profit is recognised on 

the completed work, certified by the proper agency, year after year, for the purpose of 

accounting.  

 

9. Accrual Concept:  

According to this concept the revenue is recognized on its realization and not on its actual 

receipt. Similarly the costs are recognized when they are incurred and not when payment is 

made. This assumption makes it necessary to give certain adjustments in the preparation of 

income statement regarding revenues and costs. But under cash accounting system, the 

revenues and costs are recognized only when they are actually received or paid. Hence, the 

combination of both cash and accrual system is preferable to get rid of the limitations of each 

system.  

10. Objective Evidence Concept:  

This concept ensures that all accounting must be based on objective evidence, i.e., every 

transaction recorded in the books of account must have a verifiable document in support of 

its, existence. Only then, the transactions can be verified by the auditors and declared as true 

or otherwise. The verifiable evidence for the transactions should be free from the personal 

bias, i.e., it should be objective in nature and not subjective. However, in reality the 

subjectivity cannot be avoided in the aspects like provision for bad and doubtful debts, 

provision for depreciation, valuation of inventory, etc., and the accountants are required to 

disclose the regulations followed. 
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ACCOUNTING CONVENTIONS  

By Accounting Conventions, we mean usages and customs of accounting. Customs or usage 

is a practice, which is in vogue, since long. We mostly use these conventions in preparing the 

final accounts, as they are useful for better understanding.  

Accounting conventions are the customs and traditions, which guide us in 

preparing accounting statements.  

1. Conservatism  

‗Playing safe‘ is the main idea underlying this convention. In the initial stages of accounting, 

not actual profits, but, even anticipated profits have been recorded. But, the anticipated 

profits have not materialised. This has shaken the confidence in accounting.  

In consequence, Accounting has started to follow the rule ―anticipate no profit and provide 

for all possible losses‖. For example, closing stock is valued at cost price or market price, 

whichever is lower. The effect of the above is that in case, market price comes down, then the 

‗anticipated loss‘ is to be provided for. But, if the market price goes up, then the ‗anticipated 

profits‘ is to be ignored. When lower of the two is taken into account for valuation of closing 

stock, no anticipated profit is booked, but all possible loss is taken care of. This concept 

emphasises that profit should never be overstated or anticipated.  

Concept of conservatism is otherwise known as „Prudence‟. Conservative 

concept, more than any other, has given rise to the idea that accountants are 

pessimistic and boring people!!  

Basically, the concept says that whenever there are two equally acceptable methods, the one, 

which is more conservative, will be accepted. When a judgment is based on general 

estimates, if there is a dilemma as to which is correct, the most conservative estimate will be 

accepted. When there is a probability of getting profit or loss, profit will be ignored, but loss 

will be taken into account.  

If an optimistic view of profits is taken, then dividends may be paid out of profits that have 

not been earned.  
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Critics point out that conservation to an excess degree results in the creation of secret reserve. 

Even, prudence does not justify the creation of secret reserves. Creation of secret reserves is 

not allowed. If allowed, it provides an opportunity to the management to cover their 

inefficiencies from the secret reserves so created. So, Creation of secret reserves is also quite 

contrary to the doctrine of disclosure. ‗Conservatism Concept‘ needs to be applied with more 

caution so that operational results are not distorted. This concept, principally, applies to the 

current assets.  

2. Consistency  

Consistency is a fundamental assumption of accounting. It is presumed, unless otherwise 

stated, Accounting Practices are unchanged, year after year. If the accounting practices are 

changed, the fact is to be mentioned and its impact is to be quantified.  

If closing stock is valued at cost or market price, whichever is lower, the same principle is to 

be applied, every year. Similarly, if the fixed assets are depreciated according to the 

diminishing balance method, the same method is to be consistently followed. Following 

diminishing balance method for one year and straight-line method for the next year would 

distort the results. It does not mean ignoring change for betterment. The important point is 

departure for better techniques are allowed, but the effect of change has to be arrived at and 

specified. Otherwise, comparison would give misleading results. So, if the valuation of 

closing stock is changed from the earlier stated one (cost or market price, whichever is lower) 

to the valuation based on the market price alone, then in the year of change, the change has to 

be stated and, equally, the impact of change, in terms of profits, is to be quantified in ‗Notes 

to Accounts‘.  

Once a firm has chosen a particular method of accounting, it should adhere to 

that method in the future, so as to allow for the most meaningful comparisons on 

a year-by-year basis.  

However, consistency does not mean inflexibility. However, when there are compelling 

reasons for a change, that change should be reported. If adoption of a change results in 

inflating or deflating the profit figures and financial position, compared to the previous year, 

a suitable note about the impact of change on operational results and financial position has to 

be given in the ‗Notes to the Accounts‘ of the financial statements.  
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Where accounting policies are changed, companies are required to disclose this 

fact and explain the impact of any change.  

3. Materiality  

‗Materiality‘ refers to the relative importance of an item or event. This convention 

emphasises that all material facts should be recorded in accounting. Accountant should attach 

importance to material details and ignore insignificant details. While sending a statement of 

account to the debtor, the exact amount receivable from the concerned debtor is to be shown. 

However, when the summary of debtors is presented to the top management, the individual 

debtors are rounded to the nearest thousand. Here, management is not interested to know the 

minute details to the last rupee. The Companies Act permits preparation of financial 

statements to the nearest rupee. Similarly, even the income-tax payable is rounded to the 

nearest rupee.  

The question what constitutes a „material detail‟ is left to the discretion of the 

accountants. An accountant should make an objective distinction between 

material and immaterial information.  

Materiality is defined in the International Accounting Standards Board‘s ―Framework for the 

Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements‖ in the following terms:  

“Information is material, if its omission or misstatement could influence the economic 

decision taken on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the size of the 

item or error judged in the particular circumstances of its omission or misstatement. Thus, 

materiality provides a threshold or cut-off point rather than being a primary qualitative 

characteristic which information must have, if it is to be useful”.  

Those who make accounting decisions continually confront the need to make judgments 

regarding materiality. Is this item large enough for users of the information to be influenced 

by it?  

The accountant should regard an item material, if he has reason to believe that the knowledge 

of it would influence the decision. In other words, if the knowledge of information would 

have a bearing on the decision, then that information is material and is to be provided.  
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4. Full Disclosure  

The Convention of ‗Disclosure‘ means that all material facts must be disclosed in the 

financial statements. For example, in case of sundry debtors not only the total amount of 

sundry debtors should be disclosed, but also the amount of good and secured debtors, the 

amount of good, but unsecured debtors and amount of doubtful debts should be stated. Full 

disclosure does not mean disclosure of each and every piece of information.  

Whether the information is required to be disclosed or not depends on the 

materiality of information. Materiality depends on the amount involved in 

relation to the group involved or profits.  

The financial statements should be honestly prepared and sufficiently disclose information, 

which is of material interest to the present and potential creditors and investors.  

According to section 211 of the Companies Act, not only the financial statements must 

disclose a true and fair view of the affairs of the company, but also should be prepared in the 

prescribed form as per the requirements of the Act.  

Appending notes to accounts and providing information in the notes is a sufficient disclosure 

of information. ‗Notes to Accounts‘ is provided below the balance sheet. Generally, 

information relating to contingent liabilities, market value of investments and other 

information required to be disclosed is mentioned in notes and providing information in this 

manner is considered sufficient compliance of law.  

BASES OF ACCOUNTING  

There are three bases of accounting in common usage. Any one of the following bases may 

be used to finalise accounts.  

1. Cash basis  

2. Accrual or Mercantile basis  

3. Mixed or Hybrid basis.  
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1 Accounting on ‘Cash basis  

Under cash basis accounting, entries are recorded only when cash is received or paid. No 

entry is passed when a payment or receipt becomes due. Income under cash basis of 

accounting, therefore, represents excess of receipts over payments during an accounting 

period. Government system of accounting is mostly on cash basis. Certain professional 

people record their income on cash basis, but while recording expenses they take into account 

the outstanding expenses also. In such a case, the financial statements prepared by them for 

determination of their income are termed as Receipts and Expenditure Account.  

2 Accrual Basis of Accounting or Mercantile System  

Under accrual basis of accounting, accounting entries are made on the basis of amounts 

having become due for payment or receipt. Incomes are credited to the period in which they 

are earned whether cash is received or not. Similarly, expenses and losses ere detailed to the 

period in which, they arc incurred, whether cash is paid or not. The profit or loss of any 

accounting period is the difference between incomes earned and expenses incurred, 

irrespective of cash payment or receipt. All outstanding expenses and prepaid expenses, 

accrued incomes and incomes received in advance are adjusted while finalising the accounts. 

Under the Companies Act 1956, all companies are required to maintain the books of accounts 

according to accrual basis of accounting.  

3 Mixed or Hybrid Basis of Accounting  

When certain items of revenue or expenditure are recorded in the books of account on cash 

basis and certain items on mercantile basis, the basis of accounting so employed is called 

‗hybrid basis of accounting‘. For example, a company may follow mercantile system of 

accounting in respect of its export business. However, government subsidies and duty 

drawbacks on exports to be received from government are recorded only when they are 

actually received i.e., on cash basis. Such a method could be adopted because of uncertainty 

with respect of quantum, amount and time of receipt of such incentives and drawbacks. Such 

a method of accounting followed by the company is called the hybrid basis of accounting. In 

practice, the profit or loss shown under this basis will not be realistic. Conservative people 

who prefer recognising income when received but cautious to provide for all expenses, 

whether paid or not prefer this system. It is not widely practised due to the inconsistency.  
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BASIC ACCOUNTING TERMINOLOGY  

It is necessary to understand some basic accounting terms which are daily in business world. 

These terms are called accounting terminology.  

Transaction  

―An event the recognition of which gives rise to an entry in accounting records. It is an event 

which results in change in the balance sheet equation. That is, which changes the value of 

assets and equity? In a simple statement, transaction means the exchange of money or 

moneys worth from one account to another account Events like purchase and sale of goods, 

receipt and payment of cash for services or on personal accounts, loss or profit in dealings 

etc., are the transactions‖. Cash transaction is one where cash receipt or payment is involved 

in the exchange.  

Credit transaction, on the other hand, will not have ‗cash‘ either received or paid, for 

something given or received respectively, but gives rise to debtor and creditor relationship. 

Non-cash transaction is one where the question of receipt or payment of cash does not at all 

arise, e.g. Depreciation, return of goods etc.,  

Debtor  

A person who owes money to the firm mostly on account of credit sales of goods is called a 

debtor. For example, when goods are sold to a person on credit that person pays the price in 

future, he is called a debtor because he owes the amount to the firm.  

Creditor  

A person to whom money owes by the firm is called creditor. For example, Madan is a 

creditor of the firm when goods are purchased on credit from him. 

Capital  

It means the amount (in terms of money or assets having money value) which the proprietor 

has invested in the firm or can claim from the firm. It is also known as owner‘s equity or net 

worth. Owner‘s equity means owner‘s claim against the assets. It will always be equal to 

assets less liabilities, say:  Capital = Assets -Liabilities.  
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Liability  

It means the amount which the firm owes to outsiders that is, excepting the proprietors. In the 

words of Finny and Miller, ―Liabilities are debts; they are amounts owed to creditors; thus the 

claims of those who ate not owners are called liabilities‖. In simple terms, debts repayable to 

outsiders by the business are known as liabilities.  

Asset  

Any physical thing or right owned that has a money value is an asset. In other words, an asset 

is that expenditure which results in acquiring of some property or benefits of a lasting nature.  

Goods  

It is a general term used for the articles in which the business deals; that is, only those articles 

which are bought for resale for profit are known as Goods.  

Revenue  

It means the amount which, as a result of operations, is added to the capital. It is defined as 

the inflow of assets which result in an increase in the owner‘s equity. It includes all incomes 

like sales receipts, interest, commission, brokerage etc., However, receipts of capital nature 

like additional capital, sale of assets etc., are not a pant of revenue.  

Expense  

The terms ‗expense‘ refers to the amount incurred in the process of earning revenue. If the 

benefit of an expenditure is limited to one year, it is treated as an expense (also know is as 

revenue expenditure) such as payment of salaries and rent.  

Expenditure  

Expenditure takes place when an asset or service is acquired. The purchase of goods is 

expenditure, where as cost of goods sold is an expense. Similarly, if an asset is acquired 

during the year, it is expenditure, if it is consumed during the same year, it is also an expense 

of the year.  
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Purchases  

Buying of goods by the trader for selling them to his customers is known as purchases. As the 

trade is buying and selling of commodities purchase is the main function of a trade. Here, the 

trader gets possession of the goods which are not for own use but for resale. Purchases can be 

of two types. viz, cash purchases and credit purchases. If cash is paid immediately for the 

purchase, it is cash purchases, If the payment is postponed, it is credit purchases.  

Sales  

When the goods purchased are sold out, it is known as sales. Here, the possession and the 

ownership right over the goods are transferred to the buyer. It is known as. 'Business 

Turnover‘ or sales proceeds. It can be of two types, viz.,, cash sales and credit sales. If the 

sale is for immediate cash payment, it is cash sales. If payment for sales is postponed, it is 

credit sales.  

Stock  

The goods purchased are for selling, if the goods are not sold out fully, a part of the total 

goods purchased is kept with the trader unlit it is sold out, it is said to be a stock. If there is 

stock at the end of the accounting year, it is said to be a closing stock. This closing stock at 

the year end will be the opening stock for the subsequent year.  

Drawings  

It is the amount of money or the value of goods which the proprietor takes for his domestic or 

personal use. It is usually subtracted from capital.  

Losses  

Loss really means something against which the firm receives no benefit. It represents money 

given up without any return. It may be noted that expense leads to revenue but losses do not, 

e.g.  loss due to fire, theft and damages payable to others.  
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Account  

It is a statement of the various dealings which occur between a customer and the firm. It can 

also be expressed as a clear and concise record of the transaction relating to a person or a firm 

or a property (or assets) or a liability or an expense or an income.  

Invoice  

While making a sale, the seller prepares a statement giving the particulars such as the 

quantity, price per unit, the total amount payable, any deductions made and shows the net 

amount payable by the buyer. Such a statement is called an invoice.  

Voucher  

A voucher is a written document in support of a transaction. It is a proof that a particular 

transaction has taken place for the value stated in the voucher. Voucher is necessary to audit 

the accounts.  

Proprietor  

The person who makes the investment and bears all the risks connected with the business is 

known as proprietor.  

Discount  

When customers are allowed any type of deduction in the prices of goods by the businessman 

that is called discount. When some discount is allowed in prices of goods on the basis of sales 

of the items, that is termed as trade discount, but when debtors are allowed some discount in 

prices of the goods for quick payment, that is termed as cash discount.  

Solvent  

A person who has assets with realizable values which exceeds his liabilities is insolvent.  

Insolvent  

A person whose liabilities are more than the realizable values of his assets is called an 

insolvent.  
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ACCOUNTING EQUATION  

As indicated earlier, every business transaction has two aspects. One aspect is debited other 

aspect is credited. Both the aspects have to be recorded in accounts appropriately. American 

Accountants have derived the rules of debit and credit through a ‗novel‘ medium, i.e., 

accounting equation. The equation is as follows:  

Assets = Equities 

The equation is based on the principle that accounting deals with property and rights to 

property and the sum of the properties owned is equal to the sum of the rights to the 

properties. The properties owned by a business are called assets and the rights to properties 

are known as liabilities or equities of the business. Equities can be subdivided into equity of 

the owners which is known as capital and equity of creditors who represent the debts of the 

business know as liabilities. These equities may also be called internal equity and external 

equity. Internal equity represents the owner‘s equity in the assets and external represents he 

outsider‘s interest in the asset. Based on the bifurcation of equity, the accounting equation 

can be restated as follows:  

Assets = Liabilities + Capital 

(Or) 

Capital = Assets – Liabilities 

(Or) 

Liabilities = Assets – Capital. 

The equation is fundamental in the sense that it gives a foundation to the double entry book-

keeping system. This equation holds good for all transaction and events and at all periods of 

time since every transaction and events has two aspects.   
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Rules for accounting equation:  

Following rules help in making the accounting equation:  

Assets: If there is increase in assets, this increase is debited in assets account. If there is 

decrease in assets, this decrease credited in assets account.  

Liabilities: When liabilities are increase, outsider‘s equities are credited and when liabilities 

are decreased, outsider‘s equities are debited.  

Capital: When capital is increased, it is credited and when capital is withdrawn, it is debited.  

Expenses: Owner‘s equity is decreased by the amount of revenue expenses.  

Income or profits: Owner‘s equity is increased by the amount of revenue income.  

SUMMARY 

While recording business transaction, one should know the principals of accounting, concepts 

and conventions. This chapter elaborately explains the principles which are needed for 

consistency in accounting throughout the lifetime of the concern. Accounting terminologies 

needed for preparing accounts that also explained clearly. Next lesion will cover the basic 

journal and ledger preparation. 
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Basic Accounting, Documentation and Record 

Management 

Unit III: Journal, Ledger and Special Purpose Books 

 

Learning Objectives :- 

After studying this chapter, you should be able to understand: 

 Meaning of Journal  

 Understanding of an Accounting Journal 

 What are sample formats 

 What is a trial balance 

 Definition of debt ratio 

 Examples of Journal Entries 

 INTEXT QUESTIONS 

Journal: A journal is also known as a ―Book of First Entry‖. It is simply defined as ―A 

journal details all the financial transactions of a business and which accounts these 

transactions affect.‖ It is known that all business transactions are primarily recorded in a 

journal using the double-entry method or single-entry method of book keeping, 

characteristically, journal entries go through a chronological order and debits are entered 

before credits. 

3.1 Understanding of an Accounting Journal:  

In accounting, a "journal" refers to a financial record that is kept in the form of a book, 

spreadsheet, or accounting software that contains all the recorded financial transaction 

information about a business. 

http://womeninbusiness.about.com/od/glossaryofaccountingterm/g/definition-double-entry-bookkeeping.htm
http://womeninbusiness.about.com/od/glossaryofaccountingterm/g/definition-single-entry-bookkeeping.htm
http://womeninbusiness.about.com/od/glossaryofaccountingterm/g/definition-journal-entry.htm
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Creating an accounting journal is done by entering information from receipts, sales tickets, 

cash register tapes, invoices, and other data sources that show financial transactions. Business 

transactions should be recorded so that they can be presented in the journal in chronological 

order. 

Before the advent of computers, an accounting journal was a material log book with multiple 

columns to record financial transactions for a company. Today, most businesses use soft type 

of financial accounting software to record and manage their business transactions. These 

transactions are then assigned to a specific ledger class using a Chart of Accounts number to 

prepare profit and loss statements, financial statements, and other important financial reports. 

Each listed transaction is referred to as a journal entry. Information from the journal is then 

recorded in ledgers. 

Sample Formats: 

 

 

Wang Services 

Transaction Analysis for 2
nd

 month (extended) 

For the Month Ended May 31,210 

Accounting Equation 

Trans. 

Element (type) Assets Liabilities Equity  

Account 

 

Description 

Cash Supplies Land Accounts 

Payable 

 Drawings Owner‘s  

(Jose Wang) Capital 

a. deposits 

b. purchases 

c. purchases 

d. recelves 

e. paid 

 

25,00 

(20,000) 

 

75,00 

(3,650) 

 

 

 

1,350 

 

 

 

 

20,000 

 

1,350 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

25,000 ―Investment‖ 

 

7,500 Revenue 

(2,125) Expense 

(800) Expense 

(450) Expense 

http://womeninbusiness.about.com/od/glossaryofaccountingterm/g/definition-chart-of-accounts.htm
http://womeninbusiness.about.com/od/glossaryofaccountingterm/g/definition-journal-entry.htm
http://womeninbusiness.about.com/od/glossaryofaccountingterm/g/definition-ledger.htm
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f. paid 

g. determine

s cost 

h. withdraws 

 

(950) 

 

 

(2,00) 

 

 

(800) 

 

(950) 

 

 

 

(2,000) 

 

(275) Expense 

 

(800) Expense 

          Withdrawal 

                 S    5,900         s       550  s   20,000   S     400 s        .     s        (2,000) S              

28,050 

Total Assets      S         26,450            Total Liabilities and Equity             S            

26,450 

3.1.1 Recording of Transactions in to journal book: 

Key Terms and Concepts to understand: 

Double Entry Accounting:  

Debits and Credits 

Total debits must always equal total credits 

Accounting Books: 

Accounts 

General Journal 

General Ledger ( T Account) 

Charts of Accounts 

Business Transactions: 

Impact on the Accounting Equation 

Impact on accounts and financial statements 

Journalizing (Recording) transactions in general journal 

Posting (Recordings) transactions from the general journal to journal ledger 

 Trial Balance: 

Prepare a trial balance 
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Use the trial balance to prepare the financial statements 

Find and correct errors using the trail balance  

Debt Ratio: Debt Ratio is a financial ratio that indicates the percentage of a 

company's assets that are provided via debt. It is the ratio of total debt (the sum of current 

liabilities and long-term liabilities) and total assets (the sum of current assets, fixed assets etc) 

Debt Ratio = Total Debt/Total Assets or Total Liability / Total Assets 

We have learned to find out the Debit & credit aspects of a transaction. Let‘s record these 

transactions in to books of accounts. The process of recording transactions in the books of 

accounts is called “Journalising” Journal is called primary books of accounting. 

Let‘s record the transactions in to journal books. Assume that all transactions 

are happened from 01.01.2009 to 16.01.2009 one transaction per day 

J.K enterprises 

Journalise the following transactions 

1. Mr. Ramanuj Invested Rs 200000 as capital 

2. Purchased land for Rs 105000.00 

3. Purchased Goods from S.K creation on credit Rs 200000.00 

4. Stationery purchased for Rs 1000.00 

5. Goods sold to Indian cotton for Credit RS 45000.00 

6. Rent paid to building owner RS 1500.00 

7. Cash withdrawn for personal use Rs 5000.00 

8. Tea expenses incurred for staff RS 100.00 

9. Computer purchased from computer solutions Rs 30000.00 

10. Paid commission Rs 500.00 

11. Deposit cash in to SBI 15000.00 

12. cash sales Rs 25000.00 

13. Cheque Received from Indian cotton Rs 25000.00 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Financial_ratio
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Assets
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Debt
http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Total_debt&action=edit&redlink=1
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Current_liabilities
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Current_liabilities
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Long-term_liabilities
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Total_assets
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Current_assets
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fixed_assets
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14. Goods returned by Indian cotton Rs 2500.00 

15. Cash withdrawn from SBI 10000.00 

16. Goods returned to S.K creation Rs 5000.00 

Below is the format of typical journal book. All column heads are self explanatory 

Except LF, LF means Ledger folio number, in computerized accounting this Is not important. 

i.e. when you post this journal in to a ledger book , the folio number of the ledger should be 

entered for future reference LF useful is when you are using manual accounting. 

Now we enter debit aspect in to debit column & credit aspects in credit column. Apart from 

this a brief description of each transaction should be entered in journal book. Dr denotes 

debit aspects of a transaction & To Denotes the credit aspects of transaction 

 J.K enterprises  

Journal   

   

Date Particulars LF Debit Credit 

01.01.2009 Cash …..DrTo Capital (being capital brought by Mr john)  200000.00 200000.00 

02.01.2009 Land a/c …..DrTo Cash (being land purchased forcash)  105000.00 105000.00 

03.01.2009 Purchase a/c …..DrTo S.K Creation 

(being credit purchase from S.K creation ) 

 200000.00 200000.00 

04.01.2009 Stationery a/c …..DrTo Cash (Stationery purchased for cash )  1000.00 1000.00 

05.01.2009 Indian Cotton a/c …..DrTo Sales a/c 

(Credit sales to indian cottons ) 

 45000.00 45000.00 

06.01.2009 Rent a/c …..DrTo cash a/c (being rent paid )  1500.00 1500.00 

07.01.2009 Capital/drawings a/c …..DrTo cash a/c 

(being cash withdrawn for personel use ) 

 5000.00 5000.00 

08.01.2009 staff welfare a/c …..DrTo cash a/c  

(being tea expense incurred for staff ) 

 100.00 100.00 

09.01.2009 Computer a/c …..DrTo Computer solution a/c 

(being computer purchased from computer solution ) 

 30000.00 30000.00 

10.01.2009 Commision a/c …..DrTo cash a/c (being commission paid )  500.00 500.00 
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11.01.2009 SBI(Bank) a/c …..DrTo cash a/c (cash deposited in to bank )  15000.00 15000.00 

12.01.2009 Cash a/c …..DrTo Sales a/c (beingcash sales incurred )  25000.00 25000.00 

13.01.2009 SBI(Bank) a/c …..DrTo Indian cotton a/c 

(ch# 895222 receoved from indian cotton deposited in to 

bank ) 

 15000.00 15000.00 

14.01.2009 Sales Return a/c …..DrTo Indian cotton a/c 

(being goods sold returned by indian cotton ) 

 2500.00 2500.00 

15.01.2009 Cash a/c …..DrTo SBI ( Bank) a/c 

(being cash withdrawn from bank ) 

 10000.00 10000.00 

16.01.2009 S.k creation a/c …..DrTo Purchase Return a/c 

(Being goods returned to s.k creation ) 

 5000.00 5000.00 

 

3.1.2 What is a journal entry in Accounting? 

 Journal entry is an entry to the journal 

 Journal is a record that keeps accounting transactions in chronological order, i.e. as they occur. 

  Ledger is a record that keeps accounting transactions by accounts 

  Account is a unit to record and summarize accounting transactions. 

 All accounting transactions are recorded through journal entries that show account names, amounts, 

and whether those accounts are recorded in debit or credit side of accounts. 

3.1.3 Double-Entry Recording of Accounting Transactions 

 To record transactions, accounting system uses double-entry accounting. 

  Double-entry implies that transactions are always recorded using two sides, debit and credit.  

 Debit refers to the left-hand side and credit refers to the right-hand side of the journal entry or 

account. 

 The sum of debit side amounts should equal to the sum of credit side amounts. 

  A journal entry is called "balanced" when the sum of debit side amounts equals to the sum of credit 

side amounts.  

  

3.1.4 T-Account 
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 This form looks like a letter "T", so it is called a T-account.  

 T-account is a convenient form to analyze accounts, because it shows both debit and credit sides of 

the account.    

Account 

Debit Credit 

     

 

 

 

Examples of Journal Entries 

 Transaction 1: Company A sold its products at $120 and received the full amount in cash. 

Steps Self-Questions Answers 

1 What did Company A receive? Cash. 

2 If Company A received cash, how would this affect the cash 

balance? 

Receiving cash increases the cash 

balance of the company. 

3 Which side of cash account represents the increase in cash? Debit side (Left side). 

4 What is the account name to record the sales of products. Sales. 

5 Which side of sales account represents the increase in sales? Credit side (Right side). 

6 Does the sum of debit side amounts equal to the sum of credit 

side amounts? In other words, does this journal entry balance? 

Yes. 

$120 = $120 

[Journal entry to record transaction 1] 

   Debit Credit 

        Cash  120   

  Sales     120 

 

Examples of Journal Entries 

Transaction 2: Company A purchased supplies and paid Rs.5000 in cash.  
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Steps Self-Questions Answers 

1 What did Company A receive? Supplies. 

2 If Company A received supplies, how would this affect the 

supplies balance? 

It increases supplies balance. 

3 Which side of supplies account represents the increase in cash? Debit side (Left side). 

4 What did Company A pay? Cash. 

5 Which side of cash account represents the decrease in cash? Credit side (Right side). 

6 Does the sum of debit side amounts equal to the sum of credit 

side amounts? In other words, does this journal entry balance? 

Yes.Rs.5000 = Rs.5000 

 

 

[Journal entry to record transaction 2]  

   Debit Credit 

       Supplies  5000 

  Cash    5000 

 

You have learnt that business transactions are recorded in various special purpose books and 

journal proper. The accounting process does not stop here. The transactions are recorded in 

number of books in chronological order. Such recording of business transactions serves little 

purpose of accounting. Items of same title in different books of accounts need to be brought 

at one place under one head called an account. There are numerous account titles of 

items/persons or accounts. All the accounts, if brought in one account book, will be more 

informative and useful. The account book so maintained is called Ledger. 

3.2  LEDGER : MEANING, IMPORTANCE AND TYPES 

You know that each transaction affects two accounts. In each account transactions related to 

that account are recorded.  
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For example, sale of goods taking place number of times in a year will be put under one 

Account i.e. Sales Account. 

All the accounts identified on the basis of transactions recorded in different journals/books 

such as Cash Book, Purchase Book, Sales Book etc. will be opened and maintained in a 

separate book called Ledger. So a ledger is a book of account; in which all types of accounts 

relating to assets, liabilities, capital, expenses and revenues are maintained. It is a complete 

set of accounts of a business enterprise. 

Ledger is bound book with pages consecutively numbered. It may also be a bundle of sheets. 

Thus, from the various journals/Books of a business enterprise, all transactions recorded 

throughout the accounting year are placed in relevant accounts in the ledger through the 

process of posting of transactions in the ledger. Thus, posting is the process of transfer of 

entries from Journal/Special Journal Books to ledger. 

3.2.1 Features of ledger: 

Ledger is an account book that contains various accounts to which various business 

transactions of a business enterprise are posted. 

It is a book of final entry because the transactions that are first entered in the journal or 

special purpose Books are finally posted in the ledger. 

It is also called the Principal Book of Accounts. In the ledger all types of accounts relating to 

assets, liabilities, capital, revenue and expenses are maintained. 

It is a permanent record of business transactions classified into relevant accounts. 

It is the ‗reference book of accounting system and is used to classify and summarize 

transactions to facilitate the preparation of financial statements. 

3.2.2 Format of a ledger sheet:  

The format of a ledger sheet is as follows : 

Title of an Account 

Dr.            Cr. 
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Date Particulars JF Amount Date Particular JF Amount 

   Rs.    Rs. 

You must have noticed that the format of a ledger sheet is similar to that of the format of an 

Account about which you have already learnt. A full sheet page may be allotted to one 

account or two or more accounts may be opened on one sheet. It depends upon the number of 

items related to that account to be posted. 

3.2.3 Importance of Ledger 

Ledger is an important book of Account. It contains all the accounts in which all the business 

transactions of a business enterprise are classified. At the end of the accounting period, each 

account will contain the entire information of all the transactions relating to it. Following are 

the advantages of ledger. 

Knowledge of Business results :Ledger provides detailed information about revenues and 

expenses at one place. While finding out business results the revenue and expenses are 

matched with each other. 

 Knowledge of book value of assets: Ledger records every asset separately. Hence, you can 

get the information about the Book value of any asset whenever you need. 

Useful for management: The information given in different ledger accounts will help the 

management in preparing budgets. It also helps the management in keeping the check on the 

performance of business it is managing. 

Knowledge of Financial Position: Ledger provides information about assets and liabilities of 

the business. From this we can judge the financial position and health of the business. 

Instant Information: The business always need to know what it owes to others and what the 

others owe to it. The ledger accounts provide this information at a glance through the account 

receivables and payables. 

3.2.4 Types of Ledger: 

In large scale business organisations, the number of accounts may run into hundreds. It is not 

always possible for a businessman to accommodate all these accounts in one ledger. They, 

therefore, maintain more than one ledger. 
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These ledgers may be as follows : 

Types of Ledger 

1.  Assets Ledger: It contains accounts relating to assets only e.g. Machinery account, 

Building account, Furniture account, etc. 

2.  Liabilities Ledger: It contains the accounts of various liabilities e.g. Capital (Owner or 

partner), Loan‗account, Bank overdraft, etc. 

3.  Revenue Ledger: It contains the revenue accounts e.g.. Sales account, Commission 

earned account, Rent received account, interest received account, etc. 

4.  Expenses Ledger: It contains the various accounts of expenses incurred, e.g. Wages 

account, Rent paid account, Electricity charges account, etc. 

5.  Debtors Ledger: It contains the accounts of the individual trade debtors of the business. 

Individuals, firms and institutions to whom goods and services are sold on credit by 

business become the ‗trade debtors‘ of the business. 

6.  Creditors Ledger: It contains the accounts of the individual trade Creditors of the 

business. Individuals, firms and institutions from whom a business purchases goods and 

services on credit are called ‗trade creditors‘ of the business. 

7.  General Ledger: It contains all those accounts which are not covered under any of the 

above types of ledger. For example Landlord A/c, Prepaid insurance A/c etc. 

INTEXT QUESTIONS 

I.  Fill in the blanks with a suitable word or words : 

(i)  Ledger contains various ...................... in it. 

(ii)  The process of transfer of entries from Journal and special purpose 

(iii) books to ledger is called ...................... 

(iv)  Ledger is also called ...................... 

(v)  Ledger is a ...................... book of accounting system. 
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II. Match the column A with column B : 

A      B 

(i) Book containing accounts    (a) Ledger 

(ii) Pages number of the ledger    (b) Liabilities ledger 

(iii) Machinery account, Building    (c) Revenue ledger account, furniture 

Accounts, etc. 

(iv) Loan‘s account, Bank overdraft   (d) Expenses ledger account, etc. 

(v) Rent paid, wages paid,    (e) Folio electricity charges 

(vi) Sales account, commission account,  (f) Assets ledger interest received account etc. 

3.3 POSTING OF JOURNAL PROPER INTO LEDGER 

You know that the purpose of opening an account in the ledger is to bring all related items of 

this account which might have been recorded in different books of accounts on different dates 

at one place. The process involved in this exercise is called posting in the ledger. This 

procedure is adopted for each account. To take the items from the journal to the relevant 

account in the ledger is called posting of journal.  

Following procedure is followed for posting of journal to ledger :  

1.  Identify both the accounts ‗debit‘ and credit of the journal entry. Open the two accounts 

in the ledger. 

2.  Post the item in the first account by writing date in the date column, name of the account 

to be credited in the particulars column and the amount in the amount column of the 

‗debit‘ side of the account. 

3.  Write the page number of the journal from which the item is taken to the ledger in Folio 

column and write the page number of the ledger from which account is written in L.F. 

column of the journal. 
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4.  Now take the second Account and give the similar treatment. Write the date in the ‗date‘ 

column, name of the account in the ‗amount‘ column of the account on its credit side in 

the ledger. 

5.  Write page number of journal in the ‗folio‘ column of the ledger and page number of the 

ledger in the ‗LF‘ of column of the journal. 

Illustration 1 

Journalise the following transactions and post them in the ledger 

2006 

January 1  Commenced business with cash  -    50000 

January 3  Paid into bank     -   25000 

January 5  Purchased furniture for cash   -    5000 

January 8  Purchased goods and paid by cheque -    15000 

January 8  Paid for carriage     -   500 

January 14  Purchased Goods from K. Murthy   -   35000 

January 18  Cash Sales      -   32000 

January 20  Sold Goods to Ashok on credit  -    28000 

January 25  Paid cash to K. Murthy in full settlement  -   34200 

January 28  Cash received from Ashok    -   20000 

January 31  Paid Rent for the month    -   2000 

January 31  Withdrew from bank for private use  -    2500 

Journal 

Date Particulars LF Dr. 

Amount 

Rs. 

Cr 

Amount 

Rs. 
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2007 

Jan I 

Cash A/C                      Dr. 

To Capital A/C 

(Commenced business with 

cash) 

 

 50,000  

50,000 

Jan 3 Bank A/C                      Dr. 

   To cash A/C 

(Cash paid in the Bank) 

 25,000  

25,000 

Jan 5 Furniture A/C                Dr. 

   To Cash A/C 

(Purchased furniture for cash) 

 5000  

5000 

Jan 8 Carriage A/C                 Dr. 

  To Cash A/C 

(Cash paid for carriage 

charges) 

 15000  

15,000 

Jan 8 Carriage A/C                 Dr. 

  To Cash A/C 

(Cash paid for carriage 

charges) 

 500  

500 
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3.4 Posting Scheme: 

Posting from the journal to the ledger-Debit accountACCOUNTANCY 

Posting from the Journal to the ledger-Credit Account 
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INTEXT QUESTIONS  

1.  State the meaning of ledger posting 

................................................................................................................ 

................................................................................................................ 

2.  Following are the steps of posting of journal to ledger but are not in 

proper order. Write them in correct order : 
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(a)  Write the page number of journal in the JF column of ledger and that of ledger on which 

account has been taken from journal. 

(b)  Identify the two affected accounts in the journal and open these accounts in the ledger 

(c)  Take date and amount of the debit account, and name of the credit account from journal 

to ledger in their respective columns. 

(d)  While posting the credit account from journal in the ledger write page number of the 

journal from which item is taken to ledger in JF column of ledger and page number of 

ledger on which item is taken on the LF column of the journal. 

3.5 BALANCING OF AN ACCOUNT 

Balancing of an account is the difference between the total of debits and total of credits of an 

account. If debit side total is more than the credit side, the account shows a debit balance. 

Similarly, the balance will be credit if the credit side total of an account is more than the debit 

side total. This process of ascertaining and writing the balance of each account in the ledger 

is called balancing of an account.  

An account has two sides : debit and credit. Items by which this account is debited are 

entered on its debit side with their amounts and items by which this account is credited are 

entered on its credit side with their amounts so all items related to an account are shown at 

one place in the ledger. But then you would like to know the net effect of this account i.e. the 

balance between its debit amount and credit amount. The following steps are to be followed 

in Balancing the Ledger Account : 

 Total up the two sides of an Account on a rough sheet. 

 Determine the difference between the two sides. If the credit side is more than the debit side, 

the balance calculated is a credit balance. 

Put the difference on the ‗Shorter side‘ of the account such that the totals of the two sides of 

the account are equal. 

 If the difference amount is written on debit side (i.e., if credit. side is bigger) then write as 

―Balance c/d‖ (c/d stands for carried down). If difference is written on the credit side (i.e., if 

debit side is bigger) then write it as ―Balance c/d. 
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Finally at the end of the year all the ledger accounts are closed by taking out the balance of 

each account. 

The Balance then should be brought down or carried forward to the next period. If the 

difference was put on credit side as ―Balance c/d‖ it should now be written on the debit side 

of the account as ―Balance b/d‖ (b/d stands for brought down) and vice-a-versa. Thus debit 

balance will automatically be brought down on the debit side and a credit balance on the 

credit side. 

3.6 Balancing of different types of Accounts 

Assets : All asset accounts are balanced. These accounts always have a debit balance. 

Liabilities : All Liability accounts are balanced. All these accounts have a credit balance. 

Capital : This account is always balanced and usually has a credit balance. 

Expense and Revenue : These Accounts are not balanced but are simply totaled  up. The debit 

total of Expense/Loss will show the expense/Loss. In the same manner, credit total of 

Revenue/Income will show increase in income. At the time ofpreparing the Trial Balance, the 

totals of these are taken to the Trial Balance. 

The Balance of Assets, Liabilities and Capital Accounts will be shown in Balance Sheet 

whereas total of Expense/Loss and Revenue/Income will be taken to the Trading and Profit 

and Loss Account. These Accounts are, thus, closed. If two sides of an Account (usually 

Assets, Liabilities and Capital) are equal there will be no balance. The Account is then simply 

closed by totaling up of the two sides of the account. 

INTEXT QUESTIONS  

I.  Fill in the blanks with suitable word/words : 

(i)  The debit accounts from the journal are entered on the ..................... side of respective 

account in the ledger. 

(ii)  The ..................... of the account in the ledger should be the same as that is used in the 

Journal. 
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(iii)  The page number of the journal is entered in the .....................column in the ledger 

account. 

(v)  The Figures appearing in the amount column of the .....................and the amount column 

of the respective ..................... in the ledger must be the same. 

II. Fill in the blanks with suitable word or words : 

(i)  The balance of asset accounts are ..................... balance. 

(ii)  The balance of liability accounts are always ..................... balance. 

(iii)  The capital Account generally has ..................... balance. 

(iv)  The Revenue and expense accounts are closed by taking the balances to ..................... 

Summary: 

 Ledger is a register with pages ruled in account form to enable the preparation of accounts. 

Ledger is a permanent record of business transactions which are classified according to 

various accounts to which they pertain. 

 Ledger may be Assets Ledger, Liabilities Ledger, Revenue ledger, Expense ledger, Debtors‘ 

ledger, Creditors‘ ledger and General ledger. The debit item of journal is posted to the credit 

side of the relevant account in the ledger. 

 The credit item of journal is posted to the Debit Side of the relevant account in the ledger. 

Name of the account in the journal is entered in ‗Particulars‘ column of the relevant account 

in the ledger. 

The page No. of journal from where entries are being posted is entered in folio column of the 

various relevant accounts. 

In the ledger Book, the balances of Assets, Liabilities and Capital are carried forward to the 

next period. Revenue and Expense accounts are closed by transferring their totals to Trading 

and Profit and Loss A/c. 

The balance of an account is written on the side having lower total, so that its total becomes 

equal to the total of the other side. 
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3.7 Cash Book:   

Cash Book is a subsidiary book as well as a Ledger in which all Cash & Bank transactions 

are  

recorded. Cash Book is also a Subsidiary book as well as a Principal book.  

Types of Cash Book:  

(I) Simple Cash Book: Only actual cash transactions are recorded in this book. It is 

exactly like Cash A/c. On the debit side of cash book we record cash coming in or cash 

received so it is also known as Receipts side. On the credit side of Cash Book we 

record cash going out or cash paid so it is also known as Payment side. Narration is 

compulsory in Cash Book. No Cash A/c. will be prepared in the ledger.  

(II)  Double Columnar Cash Book: There are two amount columns – Cash and Discount in 

this cash book. Discount column on the debit side is called Discount allowed. Discount 

column on the credit side is called Discount received. Discount column should never 

be balanced as Discount column of Debit side is an expense and discount column on 

credit side is an income. Discount column will never have an opening or closing 

balance.  

 

  (IV)  Certain transaction where cash should be remembered instead of cheque: 

  (B) Cheque received but endorsed:  
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 (C)  Bearer cheque received: Bearer cheque issued  

 

 (V)   Dishonour of a cheque:  

(a)  When a cheque is dishonoured, dishonour entry should be recorded on the opposite 

side.  

(b)  On dishonour the discount related to the cheque should also be cancelled.  

(c)  Dishonour should always be recorded in the Bank column except  

 (i)  Cheque received and endorsed (ii) Bearer cheque received.  

(d)  On dishonour of endorsed cheque two cancellation entries to be passed  

(i)  for cheque received; (ii) for cheque endorsed 

  (VI)  Order of closing the cash book:  

1.  Discount Allowed Column.  2. Discount Received Column.  

3.  Cash Column.    4. Bank Column  

4.  Petty Cash Book  

All day to day Petty Expenses are recorded in Petty Cash Book. Petty Cash Book is 

maintained (Kept) by petty cashier. Balance in Petty cash Book represents balance of petty 

cash in hand. It is an asset.  
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Analytical Petty Cash Book is prepared with various columns for common expenses. Petty 

Cash Book is maintained to record day to day small payment of expenses in cash.  

Petty Cashier receives money from Main Cashier  

Petty Cashier can receive money in two ways:  

Wang Services 

Transaction Analysis for 2
nd

 month (extended) 

For the Month Ended May 31,210 

Accounting Equation 

Trans. 

Element (type) Assets Liabilities Equity  

Account 

 

Description 

Cash Supplies Land Accounts 

Payable 

 Drawings Owner‘s  

(Jose Wang) Capital 

a. deposits 

b. purchases 

c. purchases 

d. recelves 

e. paid 

 

 

f. paid 

g. determine

s cost 

h. withdraws 

25,00 

(20,000) 

 

75,00 

(3,650) 

 

 

(950) 

 

 

(2,00) 

 

 

1,350 

 

 

 

 

 

(800) 

 

20,000 

 

1,350 

 

 

 

 

 

(950) 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(2,000) 

 

25,000 ―Investment‖ 

 

7,500 Revenue 

(2,125) Expense 

(800) Expense 

(450) Expense 

(275) Expense 

 

(800) Expense 

          Withdrawal 

                 S    5,900         s       550  s   20,000   S     400 s        .     s        (2,000) S              

28,050 

Total Assets      S         26,450            Total Liabilities and Equity             S            

26,450 
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 (ii) Imprest System: Every month a fixed amount is kept with Petty Cashier. This amount is 

fixed in advance. Petty Cashier receives only that much money which he actually spends. 

This system is known as Imprest System.  

Petty Cash received Recording Petty Expenses paid  

 

 5. Purchase Book: This book is also known as Purchase Day Book or Bought Day Book or 

Invoice Book. It  is used to record all credit purchases of goods. It has columns for date of 

purchase, invoice number, name of the party, ledger folio and amount. It is to be noted that 

cash purchases are recorded in cash books. Whereas this deals with the purchases of goods on 

credit in which the firm deal should be recorded. Purchase of assets on credit such as furniture, 

building, land etc are not recorded in this. Sample of purchase book is as follows: 
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[81] 

 

6. Sales Book: It is also known as Sales Day Book or Sold Day Book or Sales Journal. This is 

used for recording all the credit sales of goods. The columns in sales book are similar to those 

of purchase book and recording of transactions is done in the same manner. Cash sales are 

not at all recorded in the sales book. 

Posting: It is done in personal accounts daily from the sales book. Sales book is generally 

ruled in following way: 

 7. Purchase Return Book: It is also known as Return Outwards Book. It is maintained to 

record the return of goods purchased on credit. The goods may be returned because of 

following reasons: 

If goods are not according to sample 

If goods are not according to order 

If goods are defective 

If goods are in excess of order 

This return of the goods may be full or partial. For the return of book a separate book is 

maintained, which is known as purchase return book. 

Format of purchase return books 

 

8. Sales Return Book: When the customer, to whom the goods were sold on credit, returns the 

good to us, it is recorded in a separate book, known as Sales Return Book. It is also known as 

―Returns Inward Book‖. The rules for preparing sales return book are similar to purchase 
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return books. There are major two differences; name of the customer is recorded in place of 

the name of the supplier. Other one is the ―credit note‖ is issued in place of ―debit note‖. 

Format of Sales Return Book 

 

Sales Return Book 

Date Particulars Credit Note 

No. 

L.F. Detail 

Amount 

Amount 

      

      

Prepare a sales return book from the following: 

 

What is the difference between a general ledger and a general journal? 
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Journals are referred to as books of original entry. Accounting entries are recorded in a 

journal in order by date. In the general journal must enter the account to be debited and 

credited and amounts. Once the journals are posted, the monetary amounts are transferred to 

the general ledgers in the following business day. 

 

9.  Sundry book :  

It means miscellaneous small or infrequent customers that are not assigned individual ledger 

accounts but are classified as a group. Sundry debtor is an entity  from which amounts are 

due for goods sold or services rendered or in respect of contractual obligations, also termed: 

debtor, trade debtor and account receivable 

9.1 What is the meaning of sundry and sundry debtors? 

Sundry means miscellaneous small or infrequent customers that are not assigned individual 

ledger accounts but are classified as a group. Sundry debtor is an entity  from who amounts 

are due for goods sold or services rendered or in respect of contractual obligations, also 

termed: debtor, trade debtor and account receivable. 

A Sundry debtor is someone who seldom uses his credit and the amount of purchases that he 

made is not significant at all. A Sundry debtor is also defines as that person or organization 

who owes money to the company for something other than the goods or services sold to 

them. In simple terms, it is an account for individuals or business who owe money to a 

certain company and whose accounts and information are recorded. Sundry Creditors, on the 

other hand, are those Company to whom money are owed.  

When a trader seller on credit basis. The Buyer‘s Account in the Ledger is debited. For each 

buyer, there is one Ledger a/c. Some of the buyer accounts may be automatically balanced, 

but it is quite natural that many of these Customer‘s Accounts have a debit balances.  

When we bring these balances to the Trial Balance, if we are going to write all individual 

names of customers, them the Trial balance will be too lengthy. Therefore, first a list of 

Debtors with their individual debit balance are prepared and totaled. Instead of writing the 
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individual names of Debtors, the total is written under the heading ―Sundry Debtors‖ which 

appears in the Trial Balance.   

9.2 Sundry Debtors: When a trader sells on credit basis, The Buyer‘s Account in the Ledger 

is debited. For each buyer, there is one Ledger account. Some of the buyer‘s accounts may be 

automatically balanced.  

When we bring these balances to the Trial Balance, if we write all individual names of 

customers, then the Trial balance will be too lengthy. Therefore, first a list of debtors with 

their individual debit balances are prepared and totaled. Instead of writing the individual 

names of debtors, the total is written under the heading ―Sundry Debtors‖ which appears in 

the trial balance. 

9.3 Sundry Creditors: 

There are a number of parties from whom the trader buys goods on credit basis. For each one 

of them, an account is opened in the Ledger. As in the case of debtors, a list of creditors with 

the balances due to them is prepared. In the trial balance, instead of writing the individual 

names of Creditors, the total of the balances of the creditors is written under the heading 

―Sundry Creditors‖ 

If the Trial balance agrees it is the indication that the accounts are correctly written up, 

though it is not a conclusive proof. If the trial balance disagrees, then the difference amount is 

placed in ―Suspense Account‖.  

Format. 

 

The total amount of debit balances should be equal to the total number of credit balances. 

 TERMINAL QUESTIONS 
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1.  What is ledger? Why is ledger prepared? 

2.  Why is ledger known as the primary book or the principal -book of accounts? Can profit 

of the business and its financial position be known without maintaining ledger? 

3.  Enumerate the various types of ledgers which may be maintained by a business. 

4.  What is the rule for posting the debit account from the journal into the ledger account? 

5.  What is rule for positing the credit item of the journal into the ledger accounts? 

6.  What are the advantages of maintaining a ledger? 

7.  What is meant by balancing of an account? Explain the various stepstaken while 

balancing accounts. 

8.  How do we balance the following types of accounts? 

(a)  Assets   (b) expense  (c) capital  (d) Revenue 

9.  What do you understand by a Cash Book? 

10.  Write down different types of Cash Book.   

11.  Differentiate in between 

1. Sales and Sales Returns Book 

2. Purchase and Purchase Return Books 

3. Sundry Debtor Book and Sundry Creditor Book 
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Unit-4: Bank Reconciliation, Trial 

Balance and Errors 

BANK RECONCILIATION 

MEANING 

The cash Book and Pass Book are prepared separately. The Businessman prepares the Cash 

Book and the Pass Book is prepared by the Bank (here by cash book we mean three column 

cash Book). But as both the books are related to one person and same transactions are 

recorded in both the books so the balance of both the books should match i.e. the balance as 

per Pass Book should match to balance at bank as per cash book. But many a times these two 

balances do not agree then, it becomes necessary to reconcile them by preparing a statement 

which is called Bank Reconciliation Statement. A BANK RECONCILIATION 

STATEMENT may be defined as a statement showing the items of differences between the 

cash Brook balance and the pass book balance, prepared on any day for reconciling the two 

balances. 

CAUSES FOR DIFFERENCES 

A transaction relating to bank has to be recorded in both the books i.e. Cash Book and Pass 

Book but sometimes it happens that a bank transaction is recorded only in one book and not 

recorded simultaneously in other book this causes difference in the two balances. Differences 

between the cash book and the bank statement can arise from: 

 timing of the recording of the transactions 

 errors made by the business, or by the bank  
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Timing differences – items not recorded in the cash book 

When a business compares the balance according to its cash book with the balance as shown 

by the bank statement there is often a difference. This difference can be caused by the timing 

of payments. For example:  

 A cashier may send cheques out to suppliers, some of whom may pay in the cheque at 

the bank immediately while others may keep the cheque for several days before 

paying it in. When this happens the cashier will have recorded all the payments in the 

cash book. However, the bank records will only show the cheques that have actually 

been paid in by the suppliers and deducted from the business bank account. These 

cheques are known as unpresented cheques.  

 With another type of timing difference – known as outstanding lodgements – the 

firm's cashier records a receipt in the cash book as he or she prepares the bank paying-

in slip. However, the receipt may not be recorded by the bank on the bank statement 

for a day or so, particularly if it is paid in late in the day (when the bank will put it 

into the next day's work), or if it is paid in at a bank branch other than the one at 

which the account is maintained. 

Timing differences – items not recorded in the cash book 

Payments received by Bank directly 

Another timing difference may also occur when the bank has received a direct payment from 

a customer of the business. In this instance the bank will have recorded the receipt in the 

business‘s account at the bank but the business will be unaware of the payment and will not, 

therefore, have recorded the receipt in the cash book. This type of payment includes: 

 standing order and BACS (Bankers' Automated Clearing Services), ie incoming 

payments received on the account, eg payments from debtors (customers) when the 

payment has not been advised to the business.  

 bank giro credit amounts received by the bank, eg payments from debtors (customers) 

when the payment has not been advised  

 interest and refunds credited by the bank  
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Payments made by Bank directly 

Another reason why the balance of the cash book and the balance of the bank statement may 

not agree is because the bank may have deducted items from the customer‘s account, but the 

customer may not be aware of the deduction until the bank statement arrives. Examples of 

these deductions include:  

 standing order and direct debit payments which the customer did not know about  

 bank charges for running the account  

 interest charged for overdrawn balances  

 unpaid cheques deducted by the bank – ie stopped and 'bounced' cheques  

Difference Caused by Errors 

Sometimes the difference between the two balances may be accounted for by an error on the 

part of the bank or an error in the cash book of the business. It is for this reason that a bank 

reconciliation is carried out frequently so that errors may be identified and rectified as soon 

as possible. It is good business practice to prepare a bank reconciliation statement each time a 

bank statement is received. The reconciliation statement should be prepared as quickly as 

possible so that any queries – either with the bank statement or in the firm‘s cash book – can 

be resolved. Many firms will specify to their accounting staff the timescales for preparing 

bank reconciliation statements. For example, if the bank statement is received weekly, then 

the reconciliation statement should be prepared within five working days. 

The causes and effects of these differences on Cash Book and Pass Book may be illustrated in 

detail as follows: 

 Causes Effect on Cash Book  Effect on Pass Book 

1. Cheques issued but 

not yet presented 

for payment 

Entry is made 

 

Balance =Decreased 

No entry is made till the cheques 

are presented for payment. 

 Balance= Same as before 

2. Cheques paid into 

the bank but not 

yet cleared. 

Entry is made 

 

Balance = Increased 

No entry is made till the cheques 

are cleared 

Balance = same 

3. Interest allowed by No entry is made till the Pass Entry is made 
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the Bank 

 

Book is checked 

Balance = Same  

 

Balance = Increased 

4. Interest and 

Expenses Charged 

by the Bank 

No entry is made till the Pass 

Book is checked 

Balance = Same 

Entry is made 

 

Balance = Decreased 

5. Interest and 

dividends 

collected by Bank 

No entry is made till the Pass 

Book is checked 

Balance = Same 

Entry is made 

 

Balance = Increased 

6. Direct payments 

by the bank 

 

No entry is made till the Pass 

Book is checked 

Balance = Same 

Entry is made 

 

Balance = decreased 

7. Direct payments 

into the bank by a 

customer 

No entry is made till the Pass 

Book is checked 

Balance = Same 

Entry is made 

 

Balance = Increased 

8. Dishonor of a bill 

discounted with 

the bank 

No entry is made till the pass 

Book is checked 

Balance = Same 

Entry is made 

 

Balance = decreased 

9. Bills collected by 

the bank on behalf 

of the customer 

No entry is made till the Pass 

Book is checked 

Balance = Same 

Entry is made 

 

Balance = Increased 

10. Errors committed 

either in Cash 

Book or Pass Book 

 

  

NEED AND IMPORTANCE OF BANK RECONCILIATION STATEMENT 

The need and importance of the bank reconciliation statement may be given as follows: 

1. The reconciliation process helps in bringing out the errors committed either in cash 

Book or Pass Book. 

2. Bank reconciliation statement may also show any undue delay in the clearance of 

cheques.  
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3. Sometimes the cashier may have the tendency of cheating like he may made entries in 

the Cash Book only but never deposit the cash into bank. These types of frauds by the 

entrepreneur‘s staff or bank staff may be detected only through bank reconciliation 

statement. So this way bank reconciliation statement acts as a control technique too. 

PROCEDURE FOR PREPARATION OF BANK RECONCILIATION 

STATEMENT 
 

A bank reconciliation statement is prepared to reconcile the two balances of Cash Book and 

Pass Book. When a bank statement has been received, reconciliation of the two balances is 

carried out in the following way: 

 step 1  tick off the items that appear in both the cash book and the bank statement. 

 step 2 The unticked items on the credit side of bank statement should be added to the 

cash book balance and the unticked items on the debit side of bank statement should 

be subtracted to the cash book balance to bring it up to date. 

 step 3 The bank columns of the cash book are now balanced to find the revised figure. 

 step 4 The remaining unticked items from the cash book will be the timing 

differences. 

 step 5 The timing differences are used to prepare the bank reconciliation statement. 
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We will explain how this procedure is carried out in the Case Study which follows on the few 

following page. First, however, we will revise what we have covered in this chapter so far by 

looking at a specimen bank reconciliation statement. Study the format shown below and the 

explanatory notes. Relate them to the text on the previous two pages. So, when you will 

prepare a bank reconciliation statement you will start it with one balance make adjustments 

and then you will reach to the other balance. This way both the balances will agree. The way 

the adjustments should be made may be illustrated as follows:  

 Particulars  Amount 

 Balance at Bank as Per Cash Book  Xxx 

Add:    

(i) Cheques issued but not yet presented 

for payment 

Xx  

(ii) Interest allowed by the bank Xx  

(iii) Interest and dividend collected by the 

bank 

Xx  

(iv) Direct payments into the bank by a 

customer 

Xx  

(v) Bills collected by the bank on behalf Xx (+) xx 
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of the customer 

Less :    

(i) Cheques paid into the bank but not yet 

cleared 

Xx  

(ii) Interest and expenses charged by the 

bank  

Xx  

(iii) Direct payment by the Bank Xx  

(iv) Dishonor of a bill discounted with the 

bank 

Xx (-) xx 

(v) Balance as per Pass Book   Xxx 

Note: If you start the question with balance as per pass book all the adjustments will be 

reversed. 

Example 1: 

From the following prepare a bank reconciliation statement on 31st March 2014. 

1. Balance as per Cash Book Rs. 1,80,000 

2. Cheques paid into Bank March 2014 but credited by the bank in April 2014 Rs.7,900 

3. Cheques issued in March 2014 but encashed in April 2014 Rs.11,000 

4. Cheques entered in the Cash Book in March 2014 but paid into bank in April 2014 

Rs.1,000 

5. Interest allowed by the bank 2500 

6. Interest charged by the bank 500 

Solution: 

Bank Reconciliation Statement As on March 31, 2005 

Particulars      Amount 

Balance as per Cash Book    1,80,000 
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Add:  Cheques issued but not encashed  11,000 

Int. allowed by bank      2,500  + 13,500 

1,93,500 

Less:  Cheques paid into bank but not yet cleared 7,900 

Cheques entered into Cash Book  1,000 

Interest charged by Bank      500  - 9,400 

Balance as per Pass Book     1,84,100 

Example 2: 

Rajendra works as a cashier for XYZ Co. Her responsibilities include entering and 

maintaining the firm‘s cash book and preparing a bank reconciliation statement at the end of 

the month. The firm‘s cash book for January 2014 which Rajendra has just finished entering 

and balancing for the month end is shown below (Note: for the sake of clarity the cash and 

discount columns have been omitted.) A copy of the firm‘s bank statement from the Star 

Bank Limited dated 31 January 2014 has just been received and is also illustrated. The 

numerical difference between the two is: 

Bank statement Rs.903.00 minus cash book Rs.641.70 = Rs.261.30 

This is the difference which Rajendra will have to ‗reconcile‘. Rajendra now follows the five 

steps outlined on the previous page. 

Step 1 – tick off the items in both cash book and bank statement 

Rajendra ticks off the items that appear in both the cash book and the bank statement. 

XYZ Co – Cash Book 

RECEIPTS PAYMENTS 

Date Details Bank Date Details Bank 
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2014  Rs. 2014  Rs. 

1 Jan Balance b/d 756.20  2 Jan T Able Co. Ltd. 004450 50.00  

3 Jan Kershaw Ltd 220.00  2 Jan Broad & Co 130.00 

15 Jan Morris & Son 330.00  2 Jan Gee & Co 004452 10.00  

31 Jan Pott Bros 63.00 8 Jan Minter Ltd 27.50 

   14 Jan Liverport City Council (DD) 89.00  

   14 Jan F D Jewell 004454 49.00  

   15 Jan Kirk Ltd 004455 250.00  

   26 Jan Bond Insurance 122.00  

   31 Jan Balance c/d 641.70 

 

  1,369.20   1,369.20 

31 Jan Balance b/d  641.70    

      

 

STATEMENT Star Bank Ltd. 

 

Account:  XYZ & Co 

Account Number: 79014456 

Date 31 January 2014 

Date Details Debit Credit Balance 

2014     

01 Jan Balance   756.20 Cr  

04 Jan Cheques  220.00  976.20 Cr 

09 Jan 004450 50.00   926.20 Cr 

14 Jan   004452 10.00   916.20 Cr 

16 Jan Liverport City Council (DD) 89.00   827.20 Cr 

19 Jan Cheques  330.00  1,157.20 Cr 

24 Jan 004455 250.00   907.20 Cr 

26 Jan Bond Insurance (SO) 122.00   785.20 Cr 

30 Jan 004454 49.00   736.20 Cr 
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31 Jan Bank charges 12.95  723.25 Cr 

31 Jan Ricardo Limited (BGC)  179.75 903.00 Cr 

step 2 – update the cash book from the bank statement 

The unticked items on the bank statement indicate items that have gone through the bank 

account but have not yet been entered in XYZ & Co‘s cash book. These are:  

 Receipt 31 Jan BGC credit, Ricardo Limited Rs.179.75 

 Payment 31 Jan Bank Charges Rs.12.95 

Rajendra will now need to enter these items in the cash book to bring it up to date. The new 

entries are highlighted for ease of understanding. 

XYZ Co – Cash Book 

RECEIPTS PAYMENTS 

Date Details Bank Date Details Bank 

2014  Rs. 2014  Rs. 

   31 Jan Balance c/d 641.70 

 

  1,369.20   1,369.20 

31 Jan Balance c/d 641.70 

 

31 

Jan 

Bank Charges 12.95 

31 Jan Ricardo Limited 

(BGC) 

179.75 31 

Jan 

Balance c/d 808.50 

 

  821.45    821.45 

1 Aug Balance b/d 808.50    

step 3 – balance the cash book bank columns to produce an updated balance 

Rajendra now balances the bank columns of the cash book off again, as shown in the example 

below. 
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The balance of the bank column now stands at Rs.808.50. This still differs from the bank 

statement balance of Rs.903.00. 

The numerical difference between the two is: 

Bank statement Rs.903.00 minus cash book Rs.808.50 = Rs.94.50 

This remaining difference is dealt with in the bank reconciliation statement. 

step 4 – identify the remaining unticked items from the cash book 

There are some items that remain unticked in the cash book. These are:  

Receipt  31 Jan   Potts Bros     Rs.63.00 

Payments  2 Jan   Broad & Co (cheque no. 004451)  Rs.130.00 

8 Jan   Minter Ltd (cheque no. 004453)  Rs. 27.50 

These items should appear on next month‘s bank statement and are timing differences. These 

are the items which will be required in the preparation of the bank reconciliation statement, 

which is Rajendra‘s next step. 

step 5 – preparation of the bank reconciliation statement 

The completed statement is shown on the next page. The stages followed in its completion 

are as follows: 

XYZ CO. 

Bank Reconciliation Statement as at 31 Jan 2004 

Particulars      Amount 

Balance at bank as per Cash Book    808.50 

Add:   unpresented cheques 

Broad & Co     130.00 

Minter Ltd     27.50  157.50 

966.00 
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Less:   outstanding lodgement   63.00  63.00 

Balance at bank as per bank statement   903.00 

DEALING WITH OVERDRAFTS 

So far in this chapter we have dealt with bank reconciliation statements where the bank 

balance has been positive – ie there has been money in the bank account. We have also dealt 

with cash books which have shown that there there is money in the bank. A positive bank 

balance has been indicated by:  

 in the cash book – a debit (left-hand) brought down balance 

 a bank statement where the balance is followed by ‗CR‘ – which to the bank and the 

customer means that there is money in the account (remember that the ‗credit‘ column 

on the bank statement is used for payments into the account) 

Negative Balance 

Businesses sometimes have overdrafts at the bank. Overdrafts are where the bank account 

becomes negative and the business in effect borrows from the bank. This is shown:  

 in the cash book as a credit (right-hand) brought down balance 

 on the bank statement where the balance is followed by ‗DR‘ (or sometimes by 

‗OD‘) – which to the bank and the customer means that there is an overdraft  

Reconciliation Statements and Overdrafts 

If you want to show an overdraft on a bank reconciliation statement, you should treat it as a 

negative figure by placing it in brackets. As far as the calculation is concerned, it is simply a 

matter of using the minus key on the calculator. If in the Case Study earlier in this chapter, 

XYZ & Co had started the month with an overdraft of Rs.808.50 (a credit balance in the cash 

book), you would do the calculation as follows: 

- Rs.808.50 

+ Rs.157.50 
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- Rs.63 

produces a total of (Rs.714.00) 

Now look at how the bank reconciliation statement is set out on the next page, using brackets 

for negative figures (ie overdrafts). 

 

(Below is a bank reconciliation statement starting and ending with an overdraft an 

overdrafts) 

XYZ & CO 

Bank Reconciliation Statement as at 31 July 2004 

Particulars     Amount 

Balance at bank as per Cash Book     (808.50) 

Add:  unpresented cheques 

Broad & Co      130.00 

Minter Ltd      27.50   157.50 

(651.00) 

Less:  outstanding lodgement    63.00   63.00 

Balance at bank as per bank statement    (714.00) 

 

TRIAL BALANCE 

A trial balance is a list of all the General ledger accounts (both revenue and capital) 

contained in the ledger of a business. This list will contain the name of the nominal ledger 

account and the value of that nominal ledger account. The value of the nominal ledger will 

hold either a debit balance value or a credit balance value. The debit balance values will be 

listed in the debit column of the trial balance and the credit value balance will be listed in the 

credit column. The profit and loss statement and balance sheet and other financial reports can 

then be produced using the ledger accounts listed on the trial balance. 
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The name comes from the purpose of a trial balance which is to prove that the value of all the 

debit value balances equal the total of all the credit value balances. Trialing, by listing every 

nominal ledger balance, ensures accurate reporting of the nominal ledgers for use in financial 

reporting of a business's performance. If the total of the debit column does not equal the total 

value of the credit column then this would show that there is an error in the nominal ledger 

accounts. This error must be found before a profit and loss statement and balance sheet can 

be produced. 

The trial balance is usually prepared by a bookkeeper or accountant who has 

used daybooks to record financial transactions and then post them to the nominal ledgers and 

personal ledger accounts. The trial balance is a part of the double-entry bookkeeping system 

and uses the classic 'T' account format for presenting values. 

PREPARATION OF TRIAL BALANCE 

Once transactions have been recorded in the journal and posted to accounts in the ledger, a 

trial balance is prepared. The first step in preparing a trial balance is to complete the 

heading. The heading should show the company name, the statement name, and the period 

covered by the statement. Next, the name of each account is entered into the first column of 

the trial balance in the order that the account appears in the general ledger. Now, two 

columns are created labeled ―debit‖ and ―credit‖ and the balance of each account is entered 

into the correct column. Finally, the debit and credit columns are totaled. It should be noted 

that the trial balance is not an ―official‖ financial statement. Its purpose is to summarize all 

account balances to be certain that total debits equal total credits after the entries have been 

journalized and posted. A trial balance can be prepared at any time, but is most commonly 

done at the end of the accounting period. An accounting period is usually defined as a month, 

a quarter, or a year. Following is a sample Trial Balance of XYZ Co. Ltd. 

XYZ Co. Ltd. 

TRIAL BALANCE 

as on 31st January 

Particulars Debit 

Rs. 

Credit 

Rs. 

Cash Account 12,000  
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Capital Account  10,000 

Purchases Account 4,000  

Mohan  2,000 

Sales Account  4,000 

Total 16,000 16,000 

Thus, the two sides of the Trial Balance tally. It means the books of accounts are 

arithmetically accurate. 

METHODS OF PREPARING TRIAL BALANCE 

A trial balance may be prepared according to any of the two methods: 

 Totals method. In case of this method, the totals of debit and credit of the accounts are 

shown in the trial balance. Trial balance is prepared before ledger accounts are 

balanced. The totals of the debit and credit columns of the trial balance must be equal. 

This method is not popular. 

 Balance method. In case of this method, the balances of the ledger accounts are shown 

in the respective debit and credit columns of the trial balance. The total of the balance 

of the debit column must be equal to the total balance of credit column. This is the 

most common method of preparing a trial balance. 

 Totals-cum-balances Method. This method is a combination of totals method and 

balances method. Under this method four columns for amount are prepared. Two 

columns for writing the debit and credit totals of various accounts and two columns 

for writing the debit and credit balances of these accounts. However, this method is 

also not used in practice because it is time consuming and hardly serves any 

additional or special purpose. 

OBJECTIVES OF PREPARING A TRIAL BALANCE 

1. Checking of the arithmetical accuracy of the accounting entries. As indicated above, 

the Trial Balance helps in knowing the arithmetical accuracy of the accounting 

entries. This is because according to the dual aspect concept for every debit, there 

must be an equivalent credit. Trial Balance represents a summary of all ledger 
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balances and, therefore, if the two sides of the Trial Balance tally, it is an indication of 

this fact that the books of account are arithmetically accurate. Of course, there may be 

certain errors in the books of account in spite of an agreed Trial Balance. For 

example, if a transaction has been completely omitted from the books of account, the 

two sides of the Trial Balance will tally, in spite of the books of account being wrong. 

This has been discussed in detail later in a separate unit.  

2. Basis for financial statements. Trial Balance forms the basis for preparing financial 

statements such as the Income Statement and the Balance Sheet. The Trial Balance 

represents all transactions relating to different accounts in a summarised form for a 

particular period. In case, the Trial Balance is not prepared, it will be almost 

impossible to prepare the financial statements as stated above to know the profit or 

loss made by the business during a particular period or its financial position on a 

particular date.  

3. Summarised ledger. It has already been stated that a Trial Balance contains the ledger 

balances on a particular date. Thus, the entire ledger is summarised in the form of a 

Trial Balance. The position of a particular account can be judged simply by looking at 

the Trial Balance. The Ledger may be seen only when details regarding the accounts 

are required. 

4. Locating Errors. Trial Balance helps in locating errors in book keeping work. It 

should however be noted that it does not disclose all types of errors in book keeping 

work.  

LIMITATIONS OF TRIAL BALANCE 

A trial balance only checks the sum of debits against the sum of credits. That is why it does 

not guarantee that there are no errors. In other words in spite of the agreement of the Trial 

Balance some errors may remain. The following are the main classes of errors that are not 

detected by the trial balance. 

 An error of original entry is when both sides of a transaction include the wrong 

amount. For example, if a purchase invoice for Rs.21 is entered as Rs.12, this will 

result in an incorrect debit entry (to purchases), and an incorrect credit entry (to the 
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relevant creditor account), both for Rs.9 less, so the total of both columns will be Rs.9 

less, and will thus balance. 

 An error of omission is when a transaction is completely omitted from the 

accounting records. As the debits and credits for the transaction would balance, 

omitting it would still leave the totals balanced. A variation of this error is omitting 

one of the ledger account totals from the trial balance. 

 An error of reversal is when entries are made to the correct amount, but with debits 

instead of credits, and vice versa. For example, if a cash sale for Rs.100 is debited to 

the Sales account, and credited to the Cash account. Such an error will not affect the 

totals. 

 An error of commission is when the entries are made at the correct amount, and the 

appropriate side (debit or credit), but one or more entries are made to the wrong 

account of the correct type. For example, if fuel costs are incorrectly debited to the 

postage account (both expense accounts). This will not affect the totals. 

 An error of principle is when the entries are made to the correct amount, and the 

appropriate side (debit or credit), as with an error of commission, but the wrong type 

of account is used. For example, if fuel costs (an expense account), are debited to 

stock (an asset account). This will not affect the totals. 

 Compensating errors are multiple unrelated errors that would individually lead to an 

imbalance, but together cancel each other out. 

 A Transposition Error is an error caused by switching the position of two adjacent 

digits. Since the resulting error is always divisible by 9, accountants use this fact to 

locate the misentered number. For example, a total is off by 72, dividing it by 9 gives 

8 which indicates that one of the switched digits is either more, or less, by 8 than the 

other digit. Hence the error was caused by switching the digits 8 and 0 or 1 and 9. 

This will also not affect the totals. 

But the preparation of Trial Balance is still very useful, without it the preparation of financial 

statement the Profit and Loss A/C and Balance sheet would be difficult. 
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MEANING OF ACCOUNTING ERRORS 

In our life we make many mistakes. As soon as these are detected, he/she corrects them. In 

the similar manner, an accountant can also make mistakes or commit errors while recording 

and posting transactions. These are called ‗Accounting Errors‘. So accounting errors are the 

errors committed by persons responsible for recording and maintaining accounts of a business 

firm in the course of accounting process. These errors may be in the form of omitting the 

transactions to record, recording in wrong books, or wrong account or wrong totalling and so 

on. 

Accounting errors can take the following forms: 

 Omission of recording a business transaction in the Journal or Special purpose Books. 

 Not posting the recorded transactions in various books of accounts to the respective 

accounts in ledger. 

 Mistakes in totalling or in carrying forward the totals to the next page.  

 Mistake in recording amount wrongly, writing it in a wrong account or on the wrong 

side of the account. 

Errors may happen at any of the following stages of the accounting cycle.  

1. At Recording Stage:  

a. Errors of principle  

b. Errors of omission 

c. Errors of commission 

2. At Posting Stage 

a. Error of omission 

i. Complete 

ii.  Partial 

b. Error of commission 

i. Posting to wrong account 

ii. Posting on the wrong side 

iii. Posting of wrong amount 

3. Balancing Stage 

a. Wrong totalling 
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b. Wrong balancing  

4. Preparation of Trial Balance 

a. Error of Omission 

b. Error of Commission 

i. Taking wrong amount 

ii. Taking wrong account 

iii.  Taking to the wrong side 

Errors can be classified into the following four categories on the basis of the nature of errors 

and explained here under.  

 Errors of commission 

 Errors of omission 

 Errors of principle 

 Compensating (offsetting) errors. 

Classifications of Errors – for the Purpose of Rectification From the point of view of 

rectification, errors are classified into two categories:  

 Errors which affect the trial balance; and 

 Errors which do not affect the trial balance. 

LOCATING ERRORS 

It is obvious that if there are errors they must be located at the earliest. After locating the 

errors, they are to be rectified. In accounting also once it is established there are some 

accounting errors these need to be located and detected as early as possible. How to locate the 

errors? Steps to be taken to locate the accounting errors can be stated as follows: 

When the Trial Balance does not agree 

If the trial balance does not tally, the accountant should initiate the following steps to detect 

and locate the errors:  
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1. Recast the totals of debit and credit columns of the trial balance. Check the columnar 

totals of Trial Balance 

2. Compare the account head/title and amount appearing in the trial balance, with that of 

the ledger to detect any difference in amount or omission of an account. 

3. Compare the trial balance of the current year with that of the previous year to check 

additions and deletions of any accounts and also verify whether there is a large 

difference in amount, which is neither expected nor explained.  

4. Re-do and check the correctness of balances of individual accounts in the ledger.  

5. Re-check the correctness of the posting in accounts from the books of original entry.  

6. Find the exact figure of difference with trial balance and see that: 

a. No account of a similar balance has been omitted to be shown in the Trial 

Balance or  

b. A balance amount which is half of the amount of difference amount but is 

written on the wrong side of the trial Balance. 

7. If the difference between the debit and credit columns is divisible by two, there is a 

possibility that an amount equal to one-half of the difference may have been posted to 

the wrong side of another ledger account. For example, if the total of the debit column 

of the trial balance exceeds by Rs.1,500, it is quite possible that a credit item of 

Rs.750 may have been wrongly posted in the ledger as a debit item. To locate such 

errors, the accountant should scan all the debit entries of an amount of Rs. 750.  

8. The difference may also indicate a complete omission of a posting. For example, the 

difference of Rs.1,500 given above may be due to omissions of a posting of that 

amount on the credit side. Thus, the accountant should verify all the credit items with 

an amount of Rs.1,500.  

9. If the difference is a multiple of 9 or divisible by 9, the mistake could be due to 

transposition of figures. For example, if a debit amount of Rs. 459 is posted as 

Rs.954, the debit total in the trial balance will exceed the credit side by Rs. 495 (i.e. 

954-459 = 495). This difference is perfectly divisible by 9. A mistake due to wrong 

placement of the decimal point may also be checked by this method. Thus, a 

difference in trial balance divisible by 9 helps in checking the errors for a transpose 

mistake.  
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10. Check that the balances of all accounts (including cash and bank balances) in the 

ledger have been written and are written in the correct column of trial balance i.e. 

debit balance in the debit column and credit balance in the credit column. 

11. Recheck the totals of Special Purpose Books.  

12. Check the balancing of the various accounts in the ledger.  

13. If difference is still not traced, check each and every posting from the Journal and 

various Special Purpose Books, one by one in the ledger. 

When the Trial Balance agrees. 

You have already learnt that if the totals of the two amount columns of trial balance tally it is 

no conclusive proof of the accuracy of accounts. There may still be some accounting errors. 

These errors may not be immediately traced but may be detected at much later stage. These 

are rectified as and when detected. Following are the errors which don‘t affect the trial 

balance 

1. Omission to record a transaction in a journal or in a Special Purpose Book. For 

example, goods purchased on credit but are not recorded in the Purchases Book at all. 

2. Recording a wrong amount of an item in journal or in a Special Purpose Book. For 

example, sale of Rs. 2550 on credit entered in the Sales Book as Rs.5250. 

3. Posting the correct amount on the correct side but in wrong account. For example, 

cash received from Jagannathan was credited to Vishvanathan.  

4. An item of Capital Expenditure recorded as an item of Revenue Expenditure and vice-

a-versa. For example, Repairs to Building was debited to Building A/c. 

Why does the trial balance still agree though there may be above stated errors? Reason 

is that in the above cases the debits and credits are affected simultaneously by the same 

amount. 

Errors which do not affect the trial balance are committed in two or more accounts. They can 

be rectified by passing a journal entry giving the correct debit and credit to the concerned 

accounts. These correcting entries can be recorded in the journal proper. Examples of these 

errors are omission to pass an entry in the books of original entry; wrong amount of 
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transaction recorded in the journal, complete omission of the posting of accounts in the 

ledger. Examples of these errors are:  

 Complete omission at the recording stages of the transaction in the books of original 

entry;  

 Recording of the transaction with the wrong amount in the Books of original entries;  

 Complete omission of posting of a transaction;  

 Errors of principle;  

 Posting of correct amount on the correct side but to a wrong account. 

RECTIFICATION OF ACCOUNTING ERRORS 

By now you must have understood well that every business enterprise prepares its financial 

statements to provide information of profit earned or loss incurred by it during an accounting 

period and its financial position on the relevant date. This information will be most useful 

only if the information is accurate. How can the business concern achieve this objective if 

there are number of errors in the accounting? Your immediate response will be that errors in 

accounts should be detected at the earliest and be corrected before preparing the financial 

statements. It should be clear in your mind that the errors should never be rectified by erasing 

or overwriting because it will encourage manipulations and frauds in accounts. 

In accounting practice there are some definite methods to rectify the accounting errors. These 

are based on accounting practices and procedures. Rectification of errors using these methods 

is called rectification of accounting errors. So it is a process of rectification. It is generally 

done by passing an entry to nullify the effect of error.  

Methods of rectification of accounting errors  

 Before preparing Trial Balance  

1. instant correction 

2. correction in the affected account 

 After preparing Trial Balance 

Before preparing Trial Balance 
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1. Instant correction: If the error is detected immediately after making an accounting 

entry, it may be corrected by neatly crossing out the wrong entry and making the 

correct entry and the accountant should put his initials. For example, an amount of Rs. 

3500 is written as Rs. 5300. This can be corrected as 3500. 

2. Correction in the affected accounts. In case error is detected on a date later than the 

date on which the transaction was recorded but before the Trial Balance, the 

rectification will be made by making a correction in the affected account. A few 

Illustrations of accounting errors corrected by this method are as follows :  

EXAMPLE 

Purchases book is overcast for the month of July, 2006 by Rs 8000. 

SOLUTION 

Accounts Affected  

The total of the Purchase Book is posted to the debit of Purchase A/c. Therefore 

Purchase A/c is affected. 

RECTIFICATION 

To nullify the effect of the error, the entry of Rs 8000 will be made on the credit side 

of the Purchase A/c. With the words written as. ―The amount of Purchase Book is 

overcast for the month of July 2006.‖ 

 

Purchase A/c 

Dr                                                                                                                              Cr 

Date Particulars F Amount 

(Rs.) 

Date Particulars F Amount 

(Rs.) 

     Amount as per 

purchase Book, for 

the month of July, 

2006 

 8000 
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After preparing Trial Balance – Suspense Account 

You have learnt that the Trial Balance prepared at the end of a period by the business concern 

must agree. It means the sum of its debit column and sum of credit column should agree. But 

if the totals do not agree the difference amount is written in a new account. This account is 

called Suspense Account. If the total of the debit side of the Trial Balance is more than the 

total of its credit side, the difference amount will be written in Suspense A/c on its credit side 

i.e. Suspense A/c is credited and vice-aversa. You have also learnt that the two sides of the 

Trial Balance do not agree because there is some error or errors in the accounts, which is 

reflected in the Suspense Account. Thus, Suspense A/c is a summarised account of errors. 

Opening of a Suspense Account is a temporary arrangement. As soon as the error that has led 

to Suspense Account is rectified, this account will disappear. One point needs to be noted that 

Suspense A/c is the result of one sided errors. So one sided errors are corrected through 

Suspense A/c. completing the double entry when an error is corrected by placing the correct 

amount on the debit of the proper account, the credit is placed in Suspense Account or vice-a-

versa.  

 

 

Utility of Suspense Account 

The main use of suspense account is to facilitate the preparation of financial statements. Later 

on errors affecting the trial balance are located, rectification entries are passed through the 

suspense account. 

Preparation and Treatmentof Suspense Account 

Necessary journal entries are passed using suspense account, For example, Gopal‘s Account 

was debited short by Rs.100. The error will be rectified through Suspense A/c by debiting 

Gopal A/c and crediting Suspense A/c by Rs.100. 

Journal entry for the same is as follows : 
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Gopal     Dr.    100 

To Suspense A/c        100 

(Gopal‘s A/c debited short is now corrected) 

Similarly, while correcting as one sided error the proper account is credited with the correct 

amount, the debit is placed in the Suspense A/c. For example, Sales Book for December, 

2006 is undercast by Rs. 500. The error will be rectified by debiting Suspense A/c and 

crediting Sales A/c. 

Journal Entry for the same will be as follows : 

Suspense A/c    Dr    500 

To Sales A/c         500 

(Sales Book undercast is rectified) 

The following example highlights how a suspense account is used to rectify the errors. 

Example 

Indu prepared a Trial balance of her shop for the year ended on 31 March 2001. The debit 

total of the trial balance was short by Rs.9,145. She transferred the deficiency to a suspense 

account. In April 2001, after a close examination, she found the following errors: 

(i) Purchases day book for September 2000 was under cast by Rs.500.  

(ii) Sales day book of November 2000, was overcast by Rs.5,000  

(iii)A second hand computer purchased for office use for Rs.4,050 was recorded in the 

office equipment account as Rs.405. 

(iv) A bill drawn by her for Rs.20,000 was not entered in the bills receivable book. 

(v) A machinery purchased for Rs.50,000 was entered in the Purchases day book.  

Pass the necessary journal entries to rectify the above errors to help Indu in finalizing her trial 

balance.  

Solution:  

 

Books of Indu  
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Journal 

Date 
 

Particulars Debit 

Amount 

Rs. 

Credit 

Amount 

Rs. 

2001  

April 1 

Purchases A/c                                              Dr.  

To Suspense A/c  

(being Purchases Day Book total undercast by 

Rs.500, now rectified) 
 

500 
 

 

500 
 

2001  

April 1 

Sales A/c                                                     Dr.  

Suspense A/c  

(Sales Day Book, total overcast by Rs.5,000, 

now rectified) 
 

5,000  

5,000 

2001  

April 1 

Office Equipment A/c                                 Dr.  

Suspense A/c  

(Office equipment was under debited by 

Rs.3,645, now rectified) 

3,645  

3,645 

2001  

April 1 

Bills Receivable A/c                                   Dr.  

Sundry Debtors A/c  

(Bill drawn completely omitted in the books, 

now recorded) 
 

20,000  

20,000 

2001  

April 1 

Machinery A/c                                            Dr.  

Purchases A/c  

(Purchases account wrongly debited instead of 

machinery account, now rectified) 
 

50,000  

50,000 

 Total 79,145 79,145 

 

 

 

 

Suspense Account 

Dr                                                                                                                              Cr 

Date 

2001 

 

Particulars F Amount 

(Rs.) 

Date Particulars F Amount 

(Rs.) 

March 31 Balance b/f 

(balancing figure in 

the trial balance) 

 9,145 Apr 1  

 

Purchases A/c  

Sales A/c 

Office Equipment 

A/c 

 

 500 

5,000 

3,645 
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   9,145    9,145 

SUMMARY  

1. Bank reconciliation statement.  

A statement prepared to link the bank balance shown in the cash book with the balance 

shown on the bank statement. 

2. Timing differences. 

Discrepancies between the bank statement and the cash book that will be corrected over 

time, such as unpresented cheques and outstanding lodgements. 

3. Outstanding lodgements.  

Amounts that have been paid into the bank, but not yet recorded on the bank statement 

4. Unpresented cheques. 

Cheques that have been issued but have not yet been paid in and deducted from the account 

of the business 

5. Meaning of Trial Balance 

A statement showing the extract of the balances, either credit or debit of various accounts in 

the ledger. 

6. Objectives of Trial Balance 

 

 to check the arithmetical accuracy of the ledger accounts; 

 to help in locating errors; 

 to provide a basis for preparing the financial statements. 

 

7. Preparation of Trial Balance 
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A Trial Balance has four columns, the first column contains account code, the second column 

is for the title of the account, the third column is for writing the debit balance and the final 

column is where the credit balance of the account in the ledger is written. 

8. Types of Errors 

There are four types of errors:  

 Errors of Commission: Errors caused due to wrong recording of a transaction, wrong 

posting, wrong totaling, wrong balancing, etc. 

 Errors of Omission: Errors caused due to omission of recording a transaction either 

fully or partially in the books of accounts. 

 Errors of Principle: Errors caused due to ignoring the accounting principles which 

may lead to wrong classification or identification of receipts and payments between 

revenue and capital receipts and revenue expense and capital expenditure.  

 Compensating Errors: Two or more errors committed in such a way that they nullify 

the effect of each other on the debits and credits.  

 

9. Rectifications of Errors 

Errors affecting only one account can be rectified by giving an explanatory note or by passing 

a journal entry. Errors which affect two or more accounts are rectified by passing a journal 

entry. 

10. Meaning and Utility of Suspense Account 

An account in which the difference in a trial balance is put temporarily till such time that 

errors are located and rectified. It facilitates the preparation of provisional financial 

statements even when the trial balance does not tally.  

11. Disposal of Suspense Account 

When all the errors are located and rectified by passing the necessary journal entries, the 

suspense account automatically stands disposed off.  
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Module 6 

 

 

Unit 5 

 

DOCUMENTATION AND RECORD MANAGEMENT 

put into sub sections A and B 

 

Part A covers Documentation and Record Management 

 

Part B covers Drafting, Communication and Noting 

 

 

 

1. Part A 
  

Documents importance cannot be denied as they can be used again and again, referred well 

and can be produced as evidence to support the point. It becomes essential that all the 

stake holders relating to maintaining and using records should know the procedure of using 

it with efficiency and effectiveness. Furthermore, it helps in monitoring and evaluating the 

service of the stakeholder for improving efficiency and fixing responsibility. Managing 

physical records, their storage and their disposal has also been dealt. In this way mastery on 

procedure and practice of documentation makes one fit, competent and employable in 

office of NGOs, Businesses or Government departments. 

 

 

2. Part B 
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Communication is extremely important in the times of today and the effectiveness of any 

organization, government, non-government or business relies heavily on effective 

communication. Effective communication skills need to be developed among employees for 

both written and oral communication so as to increase the overall competence of the 

organization. Drafting involves collecting and organizing information in advance to actual 

communication in order to save time and wastage. Effective drafting has long lasting impact 

on successful and timely decision making and organizational efficiency and productivity. A 

step ahead of drafting is noting. Noting basically involves furnishing additional information 

in the form of remarks for facilitate speedy action and avoid wastage of time and other 

precious resources. Certain general rules are to be followed for noting to make it more 

effective and to maintain uniformity of operations 

 

____________________________________________________________ 

UNIT 5  Part A. DOCUMENTATION AND RECORD MANAGEMENT 

 

Objectives:  

 

After completing the unit you should be able to: 

 

 Understand the importance of record keeping. 

 Accountability and Service Efficiency 

 Describe and practice managing physical records. 

 Appreciate the benefits of storing and disposal of records. 

 

Structure:  

 

5. A.1. Introduction. 

5. A. 2. Documentation – Meaning & Definition. 

5. A. 3. Record, Characteristics of Record 

5. A. 4. Principles of good Record Management 
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5. A. 5. Lifecycle of Record Management 

5. A. 6. Accountability and Service Improvement. 

5. A. 7. Managing Physical Records, Storage and Disposal 

5. A. 8. Summary 

5. A. 9. Self-Assessment questions. 

5. A. 10. Further reading.  

 

 

 

5. A. 1  INTRODUCTION 

 

The term documentation is generally used for the gathering and recording of information, 

especially to establish or provide evidence of facts or testimony. Documentation is always 

done with a purpose.  

 

In common terms, documentation is recording or the capturing of some event or thing so that 

the information will not be lost. Usually, a document is written, but a document can also be 

made with pictures and sound. It can comprise of merely thoughts. In other words, 

documentation is an expressed thought. Preparing a document from documents and creating a 

new document is called Documentation. Documentation usually adheres to some convention 

based on similar or previous documentation or specified requirements.  

 

 

 

5. A. 2  DOCUMENTATION- MEANING AND DEFINITION 

 

When the term of documentation came into force, it was synonymous with Bibliography. 

Documentation includes selection, collection and orderly presentation of recorded materials 
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and records of such materials and in any field of knowledge. In other words, it is an intensive 

bibliographical work on emphasis of micro documents. 

 

Documentation has been defined by some of the authorities on the subject in the following 

words: 

 

Documentation is a process of collecting and subject classifying all the records of new 

observations and making them available at need, to the discoverer and inventor  

:- S.C.Bradford  

 

Documentation is promotion and practice of bringing in to use of nascent micro thought 

by a specialist, pinpointed, exhaustive, expeditious service of nascent micro thought to 

specialists. 

 :- Dr. S R Ranganathan 

 

Documentation can also be expressed as a process of locating, collecting, orderly presenting 

and communicating information with emphasis on micro document. 

 

Paul Otlet and Henri La Fontaine, both Belgian lawyers and peace activists, established 

documentation as a field of study. Otlet, who coined the term documentation science, is the 

author of two treatises on the subject: Traité de Documentation (1934) and Monde: Essai 

d'universalisme (1935). He, in particular, is regarded as the progenitor of information science. 

 

Why do we need documentation? 

 

There is a close relationship between documentation and society. Our society is characterised 

by high degree of specialization due to increased complexities, constant changes and 

increased reliance upon printed information in every sphere of knowledge and action. 

 

Modern society, however, owes most of it rapid growth and change to the scientific tradition 

of inductive empirical research. And without documentation this research would not be 
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possible and the results would not be available for future reference either. Documentation 

helps research with tools like  

a) Documentation list under current awareness and available information 

b) Reprography which means reproduction of reading material on demand in the form of 

micro-film, micro-card, micro-fitches and micro prints. 

c) Translation services in various languages. 

d) Ad hoc bibliographies as per need of the users on specific research topics. 

e) Union catalogue 

f) Reference tool 

 

As per Dr. S R Ranganathan, who was the first professional to come up with the idea of 

introducing documentation service to scientists and researchers, the documentation officer 

has the responsibility to serve the nation in the field of research. They are to meet the new 

challenges for scientific information retrieval. In the present scientific age, where a mass of 

literature is being produced, a simple alphabetic arrangement will not work and new tools and 

techniques are to be used. A modern technique is needed to help the scientist to retrieve 

information needed in a short span of time.  

 

An important aspect of documentation is a catalogue. It helps the researcher in locating 

sources of information effortlessly and speedily by arranging information in a sequential 

manner. A catalogue basically consists of details of a document. A single document may have 

multiple entries according to reader‘s approach. A catalogue has multi approaches based on 

different entries in subject, author, title, series, analysis, cross reference etc. It leads to an 

index contained in a report for specific topics. 

 

A catalogue is basically a tool of macro thoughts, whereas documentation is a tool of micro-

thoughts. Both are however, tools for providing reference service. 

 

Activity A: Write 5 activities which are included in the procedure of Documentation. 

 

1. 

 

2. 

 

3. 
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4. 

 

5. 

 

 

Activity B: A Catalogue basically consists of details of a document.  

 

A catalogue is basically a tool of macro thoughts and documentation is a tool of micro 

thoughts. Explain: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Activity C: Name and give three features of any document which you generally use. 
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5. A. 3  RECORDS- CHARACTERISTICS OF RECORDS 

 

 

In common terms, a ―Record” implies, information kept or preserved about something that 

has happened. It can be used to recreate or prove the happening. We keep records of various 

activities in our daily and professional life. Absence of these records will seriously hinder the 

very way of human life as we know it today. From the tiniest tick on a list of work to be done 

to information being stored on super computers, records exist and impact every aspect of our 

life.  

 

Definition – A record can be defined as information, regardless of form or medium, 

created, received and maintained by an organization in pursuance of its legal obligations 

or in the transaction of business. 

 

All records start off as merely information in the form of a document and their importance 

and relative use transforms them into a record.  

 

A document is any piece of written information in any form, produced or received by an 

organisation or person. It can include databases, website, email messages, word and excel 

files, letters, and memos. Some of these documents will be short-lived or of very short-term 

value and should never end up in a records management system. 

 

Some documents will need to be kept as evidence of business transactions, routine activities 

or as a result of legal obligations, such as policy documents. These should be placed into an 

official filing system and at this point, they become official records. In other words, all 

records start off as documents, but not all documents will ultimately become records. 

 

What constitutes a record? 

 

A document to qualify as a record should display one of the following characteristics: 
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 Provide evidence of a transaction 

 Be used as reference material 

 Ensure compliance with statutory or other regulations. 

 

 

 

5. A. 4  PRINCIPLES OF GOOD RECORD MANAGEMENT 

 

 

Information is every organisation's most basic and essential asset, and in common with any 

other business asset, recorded information requires effective management. Records 

management ensures information can be accessed easily, can be destroyed routinely when no 

longer needed, and enables organisations not only to function on a day to day basis, but also 

to fulfil legal and financial requirements. The preservation of the records of government for 

example, ensures it can be held accountable for its actions, that society can trace the 

evolution of policy in historical terms, and allows access to an important resource for future 

decision making. 

 

Records management is the systematic control of an organisation's records, throughout 

their life cycle, in order to meet operational business needs, statutory and fiscal 

requirements, and community expectations.  

 

Effective management of corporate information allows fast, accurate and reliable access to 

records, ensuring the timely destruction of redundant information and the identification and 

protection of vital and historically important records. 

The principles of good records management: 

 

The guiding principle of records management is to ensure that information is available when 

and where it is needed, in an organised and efficient manner, and in a well maintained 

environment. Organisations must ensure that their records are: 
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1. They should be Authentic 

 

It must be possible to prove that records are what they purport to be and who created them, 

by keeping a record of their management through time. Where information is later added to 

an existing document within a record, the added information must be signed and dated. With 

electronic records, changes and additions must be identifiable through audit trails. 

 

2. They should be Accurate 

Records must accurately reflect the transactions that they document. 

 

3. They should be Accessible 

Records must be readily available when needed. 

 

4. They should be Complete 

Records must be sufficient in content, context and structure to reconstruct the relevant 

activities and transactions that they document. 

 

5. They should be Comprehensive 

Records must document the complete range of an organisation's business. 

 

6. They should be Compliant 

Records must comply with any record keeping requirements resulting from legislation, audit 

rules and other relevant regulations. 

 

7. They should be Effective 

Records must be maintained for specific purposes and the information contained in them 

must meet those purposes. Records will be identified and linked to the business process to 

which they are related. 

 

8. They should be Secure 

Records must be securely maintained to prevent unauthorised access, alteration, damage or 

removal. They must be stored in a secure environment, the degree of security reflecting the 

sensitivity and importance of the contents. Where records are migrated across changes in 

technology, the evidence preserved must remain authentic and accurate. 
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The importance of records management 

 

Systematic management of records allows organisations to: 

 

 know what records they have, and locate them easily 

 increase efficiency and effectiveness 

 make savings in administration costs, both in staff time and storage 

 support decision making 

 be accountable 

 achieve business objectives and targets 

 provide continuity in the event of a disaster 

 meet legislative and regulatory requirements, particularly as laid down by the law 

 protect the interests of employees, clients and stakeholders 

 

 

5. A. 5  LIFECYCLE OF RECORD MANAGEMENT 

 

 

Lifecycle of Record Management 
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A basic concept in Records Management is the records life cycle. The life of a record goes 

through phases starting from when it is created or received by the Agency, through to its 

use, maintenance and temporary storage before finally being destroyed or archived 

permanently. 

 

 

The process of recording consists of specific phases right from the time a record is created to 

when it is finally disposed-off. All records have a lifecycle, although, some longer than 

others. Records are created, used, kept for valid legal, fiscal, or administrative reasons, and 

more likely than not destroyed at the end of their lives, although some with enduring 

historical value will be maintained in an archives.  

 

CREATION AND IDENTIFICAION: Documents maybe created within an organization in 

many different ways. They need to be reviewed closely to identify which documents are 

supposed to be kept as records. Record creation may include: 

 

 typing/word processing of a document 

 typing and sending of an email 

Creation 

Distribution, 
Use  

Storage & 
Maintenance 

Retention  & 
Disposition 

Preservation 
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 construction of a spreadsheet 

 recording of a meeting 

 entering of a transaction within an enterprise system 

 the receipt of documents 

 the receipt of spreadsheets 

 the receipt of email 

 

The creation or receipt of a record is the first phase of a record's life. 

 

CIRCULATION AND USE: Once a record has been created or received it goes through a 

phase of distribution and use. During this phase the record is frequently in use. This phase 

may last only a few hours in the case of a transient record or may last a few years in the case 

of a short to long term record. 

 

STORAGE AND RETRIEVAL: While many records may be disposed of after their initial 

use, others are required to be kept for a longer period of time for legal, fiscal, or other 

administrative reasons. Since immediate access to these records is no longer required during 

this phase, they are typically stored offsite or offline so as not to burden the storage capacity 

of the operating office or the efficiency of the operating system. 

 

DISPOSAL: The final phase for the majority of an organization's records is their disposal. 

Disposal is accomplished in a variety of ways including, but not limited to: 

• disposal in trash or recycling bin 

• shredding 

• incineration 

• deleting of electronic file 

• shredding of optical disk  

 records destruction should be documented appropriately. 

 

5. A. 6  ACCOUNTABILITY AND SERVICE IMPROVEMENT  

 

Accountability 
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Accountability: “Clear commitments that –in the eyes of others – have been kept.” 

 

Accountability can be described as the obligation of an individual or organization to account 

for its activities, accept responsibility for them, and to disclose the results in a transparent 

manner. It also includes the responsibility for money or other entrusted property. 

What Is Accountability? 

 

 Accountability is a positive term describing commitments that – in the eyes of others 

– have been kept. 

 Accountability is continually asking, ―How am I doing?‖ 

 To front-load accountability in your organization, you have to provide crystal-clear 

expectations. 

 By front-loading accountability, relationships among team members are strengthened 

because they know they can count on each other. This leads to greater performance, 

higher quality and better service to your clients. 

 

Defining Accountability 

 

Accountability should not be defined as a punitive response to something going 

wrong.Webster‘s Dictionary defines ―accountability‖ as “the quality or 

state of being accountable; an obligation or willingness to accept responsibility for one’s 

actions.” 

If we notice the definition, we find adjectives describing accountability in the dictionary 

:quality, obligation, willingness and responsibility. Does that sound like punitive response to 

something that has gone wrong? It does not. Accountability means preventing something 

from going wrong. 

So, as a first step on the road to creating an accountability culture, we must redefine and 

streamline ―accountability‖ to carry a more positive connotation: 

 

The following should be included in defining characteristics of any form of accountability: 

 

1. An agent or institution which is to give an account. (Say A for Agent) 

2. An area, responsibilities or domain subject  to accountability. (Say D for Domain) 

3. An agent or institution to whom account is to be given. (Say P for Principal) 

4. The right of P to require A to inform and explain decisions with regards to D 
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5. The right of P to sanction A if A fails to inform or explain decisions with regards to 

D. 

 

 

STEPS INVOLVED IN ACCOUNTABILITY: 

 

Following six steps are to be followed in order to establish accountability:  

 

1. Define the areas that need accountability. Are you satisfied with the performance 

and motivation of your key people? Do you need to delegate accountability not just 

projects?  

 

2. Create a plan to overcome the issues. What is the best way to be held accountable in 

that particular situation? Is it a daily meeting with a supervisor? A weekly meeting 

with the department? A weekly report? As you establish what you are going to do to 

stay accountable keep in mind that one of the easiest ways to derail accountability is 

to make this task overwhelming.  

 

3. Measure your results. Try comparing daily or weekly actions against monthly or 

quarterly goals. What are the weekly sales? Is that on track to meet quarterly goals? 

How many client meetings need to be set up every week to meet the goals? Using 

your already established KPI‘s are a great way to measure accountability.   

 

4. Establish rewards for when expectations are met. Rewards are a big contributor to 

the motivation necessary to stick to the plan and should be established right away. 

What happens when goals are met?  Is there recognition at the weekly department 

meeting? Maybe a bonus at an employee‘s annual review?  

 

5. Define penalties for when the plan isn‟t followed. Penalties also create motivation 

and should be included as part of accountability. A review of why failure happened 

may be a good place to start. Then move on to bigger penalties. For example, if you 

are have a salesman that is continuously missing the mark on their areas of 

accountability, a new commission structure could be put into place or you could 

decrease their rate of commission.   

 

6. Develop a system of support. What resources are necessary to remain accountable? 

Do you need to involve another person? Are reminders necessary until accountability 

becomes a habit? Maybe some regular encouragement?    
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CONTINUITY OF SERVICE: 

What does continuous service mean? 

Continuous service usually means working for the same employer without a break, or with 

short breaks that don't interrupt continuity of employment. These may include time out of 

service due to strikes, lock-outs and even unfair dismissal where the employee is reinstated or 

re-engaged into the service. Service can sometimes also be treated as continuous if your 

employee has previously been with a different employer, for example following the transfer 

of a business or undertaking. 

When does continuous employment begin and end? 

To work out how long an employee has been continuously employed, you should firstly 

establish the date on which they qualify for a particular right - their qualification date - for the 

entitlement in question. The qualification date is defined differently for each entitlement. 

An employee's continuity of service determines the employment rights to which he or she is 

entitled. While some rights do not require the employee to have worked for his or her 

employer for any particular length of time, other rights, particularly key employment 

protection rights such as the right to statutory redundancy pay and the right to claim 

"ordinary" unfair dismissal, depend on the employee having worked for the employer for a 

determined period. 

Employers need to establish their employees' continuous service so that they can understand 

what their legal obligations are in relation to those employees.  
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If there is a break in employment then normally none of the weeks or months before that date 

will count as continuous service. Continuity of service is calculated from the date that the 

employee starts work with the organisation. 

 

Once qualification date has been established, one should count back from that date to the date 

of their first day of work. 

However, it is important to remember that time with a previous employer can sometimes be 

added to the time with a present employer under certain circumstances. 

Within the period of continuous employment, there may be: 

 breaks in employment that don't break continuity of employment 

 periods which don't count towards the total length of continuous employment but also 

don't break continuity 

An industrial tribunal can settle any dispute about the length of an employee's continuous 

service. Generally, the tribunal will assume the employment was continuous until it is shown 

otherwise. 

Notice periods 

The 'effective date of termination' - for the purpose of calculating length of service - is the 

date on which employment ends following the notice period. If you do not give an employee 

any notice, the effective date of termination will be the date on which that statutory notice 

would have expired if you had given them notice. 

Key Features in continuity of service 

o The date of continuity of service must be included in the employee's statement of 

employment particulars. 

o Many statutory rights are dependent on accruing a certain period of continuous 

service. 

o If the employer is unable to offer work to the employee because none is available, 

continuity of service may be preserved during the period of inactivity. 

o Continuity of service is preserved during maternity leave, paternity leave, adoption 

leave and parental leave. 

o If there is a transfer of undertaking, then the continuity of service of the transferred 

employees is preserved. 

o It is essential that employers are clear what happens to continuity of service during 

career breaks and sabbaticals. 

o In the case of casual workers, who are employed only when required, there is likely to 

be no continuity of employment between periods of employment. 
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o Any days on which the employee is involved in strike action neither count toward nor 

break a period of continuous service. 

o During any lock out, continuity of service is not broken but it does not count towards 

the calculation of continuous service. 

 

 

SERVICE IMPROVEMENT: 

 

A company's reputation is only as good as the customer service it provides. Please a customer 

and your client base will swell with relatives and neighbours who catch wind of your top-

notch representatives. But upset one, and brace yourself for disaster. The experience that 

individuals have with a company and then what they hear from friends and family influences 

their perception of and likelihood to do business with a company.  

 

Every company wants to delight its customers. Bold promises are often made - bad results are 

often the reality. The issue is not that services are poor. The real issue is that the promised 

and necessary great services are harder to deliver than ever. 

Concept of Efficiency: 

 

Efficiency is a relative concept. It is measured by comparing achieved productivity with a 

desired norm, target, or standard. Output quantity and quality achieved and the level of 

service provided are also compared to targets or standards to determine to what extent they 

may have caused changes in efficiency. Efficiency is improved when more outputs of a given 

quality are produced with the same or fewer resource inputs, or when the same amount of 

output is produced with fewer resources. 

 

“The comparison of what is actually produced or performed with what can be 

achieved with the same consumption of resources (money, time, labour, etc.). It is 

an important factor in determination of productivity.” 

 

 In essence, efficiency indicates how well an organization uses its resources to produce 

goods and services. Thus, it focuses on resources (inputs), goods and services 

(outputs), and the rate (productivity) at which inputs are used to produce or deliver the 

outputs. To understand fully the meaning of "efficiency", it is necessary to understand 

the following terms: inputs, outputs (including quantity and quality), productivity, and 

level of service. 

 

 Inputs are resources (e.g., human, financial, equipment, materiel, facilities, 

information, energy and land) used to produce outputs. 

 



[133] 

 

 Outputs are goods and services produced to meet client needs. Outputs are defined in 

terms of quantity and quality and are delivered within parameters relating to level of 

service . 

 

 Quantity refers to the amount, volume, or number of outputs produced. For example, 

number of passports issued, number of income tax returns processed, number of 

applicants selected as immigrants, and area of facilities maintained. 

 

 Quality refers to various attributes and characteristics of outputs such as reliability, 

accuracy, timeliness, service courtesy, safety, and comfort. 

 

 Productivity is the ratio of the amount of acceptable goods and services produced 

(outputs) to the amount of resources (inputs) used to produce them. Productivity is 

expressed in the form of a ratio such as cost or time per unit of output. 

 

 Level of service refers to the "richness" of service in terms of such characteristics as 

accessibility, options, frequency, and response time. Level-of-service standards are 

sometimes defined by statute, regulations, or policies. Such standards may influence 

quality as well as the cost of service. 

 

 Staff and work processes, among other factors, determine the rate at which resources 

are consumed in producing goods or services. Thus, staff and work processes affect 

the productivity of an operation. 
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Goal of Service Improvement: 

 

To maintain and gradually improve business aligned Service quality, through a constant cycle 

of agreeing, monitoring, reporting and reviewing Service achievements and through 

instigating actions to eradicate unacceptable levels of Service 

 

Why is Service Improvement Important? 

 

 In this increasingly competitive world with ever shortening product development 

cycles, service quality improvement is often a key competitive differentiator that is 

sustainable. Competitive differentiation based on product is hard to sustain in most 

cases, unless patented technology is in play.  

 Research has clearly demonstrated that businesses rated high by their customers for 

service grow faster and are more profitable than businesses rated low. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. A. 7  MANAGING PHYSICAL RECORDS, STORAGE  AND DISPOSAL 

 

Managing physical records involves knowledge base and expertise from various disciplines 

and areas. 

 

One of the most important and basic steps in records management is identification and 

authentication of records. It basically involves filing and retrieval; in some more complex 

cases, more careful handling is required. 

 

Identification of records 

    If a document is to be treated as a legal record, it needs to be authenticated. In some cases, 

forensic experts may need to examine a document or artefact to determine whether it is 

genuine and not a forgery, and that any damage, alteration, or missing content is documented. 
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In extreme cases, items may be subjected to a microscope, x-ray, radiocarbon dating or 

chemical analysis. This level of authentication is rare, but requires that special care be taken 

in the creation and retention of the records of an organization. 

 

Storing records 

    The second aspect of records management involves their storage. They have to be stored in 

such a way that they are accessible and safeguarded against environmental damage. 

Normally, paper documents may be stored in a filing cabinet in an office. Although, some 

organisations use file rooms with specialized environmental controls including temperature 

and humidity for storing important documents. Extremely important and vulnerable records 

may need to be stored in a disaster-resistant safe or vault to protect against fire, flood, 

earthquakes and conflict. With the advent of modern technology and computers, record-

keeping technologies have converted much of that information to electronic storage. In 

addition to on-site storage of records, many organizations operate their own off-site records 

centres or contract with commercial records centres. 

 

Retrieval of records 

    In addition to being able to store records securely, organizations must also create  

appropriate competences for retrieval of records, in the event they are needed for a purpose 

such as an audit or litigation, or for the case of destruction. Record retrieval capabilities 

become crucial and complex when dealing with electronic records, especially when they have 

not been adequately tagged or classified for discovery. 

 

Circulating records 

    Tracking the record while it is away from the normal storage area is referred to as 

circulation. Often this is handled by simple written recording procedures. However, many 

modern records environments use a computerized system involving bar code scanners, or 

radio-frequency identification technology (RFID) to track movement of the records. These 

can also be used for periodic auditing to identify unauthorized movement of the record. 

 

Disposal of records 

    Disposal of records does not always mean destruction. It can also include transfer to a 

historical archive, museum, or private individual. Destruction of records ought to be 

authorized by law, statute, regulation, or operating procedure, and the records should be 

disposed of with care to avoid inadvertent disclosure of information. The process needs to be 
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well-documented, starting with a records retention schedule and policies and procedures that 

have been approved at the highest level. An inventory of the records disposed of should be 

maintained, including certification that they have been destroyed. Records should never 

simply be discarded as refuse. Most organizations use processes including pulverization, 

paper shredding or incineration. 

 

Commercially available products can manage records through all processes active, inactive, 

archival, retention scheduling and disposal.  

 

5. A. 8 SUMMARY: 

 

The term documentation is generally used for the gathering and recording of information, 

specially to establish or provide evidence of facts or testimony. Documentation is always 

done with a purpose. Documentation has been established as a field of study which comprises 

of the process of locating, orderly presenting and communicating information with emphasis 

on micro document. A document to qualify as a record should display one of the following 

characteristics: 

 

 Provide evidence of a transaction 

 Be used as reference material 

 Ensure compliance with statutory or other regulations. 

 

Good records management is comprised of the following qualities – accessible, authentic, 

accurate, complete, comprehensive, effective and secure etc.  Life cycle of record 

management consists of 1. Creation 2. Distribution, 3. Storage and Maintenance, 4. 

Retention, Disposal and Preservation. 

Accountability is a clear commitment in the eyes of others.  

 

 

5. A. 9  SELF-ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS: 

 

1. Discuss the concept of record keeping. 

2. Describe the principles of good record management. 

3. Write short notes on: 

a. Lifecycle of Record Management 



[137] 

 

b. Categories of Documentation. 

c. The importance of Record Management. 

 

 

5. A. 9  FURTHER READINGS 

 

1. Guha, B.  ―Documentation and Information Service‖, Calcutta, Calcutta, World Press 

       Reprint 2010 

2. Raju, A.D.M. ―Social Science Documentation in India‖, IASLIC Bull 

3. Ranganatha, S R  ―Documentation and its facts‖ Bombay, Asia 1963 

4. Shera, J. H. ― Documentation and the Organization of Knowledge‖, London, Grasby,  

         Lockwood, 2006 

5. Valls, J. ―Information  Services for Developing Countries‖, Bangkok, Library 

Institute of  Technology 2009 Reprint. 

 

 

5. B.  DRAFTING FOR COMMUNICATION AND NOTING 

 

Objectives:  

 

After completing the unit you should be able to: 

 

 Understand the importance of drafting. 

 Procedures and General Instructions in Drafting 

 Describe and practice Drafting of documents. 

 Appreciate the benefits of effective communication. 

 Understand the concept, procedure and guidelines of Noting. 

 Recognize and comprehend different types of Noting    

 

Structure:  

 

5. B.1. Introduction. 
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5. B. 2. Drafting for Communication: Procedure and General Instruction 

5. B. 3. Characteristics of Effective Communication 

5. B. 4. Some Useful Communication Skills 

5. B. 5. Noting – General Instructions Regarding Noting 

5. B. 6. Types of Noting 

5. B. 7. Referencing. 

5. B. 8. Checklist for Drafting Notes 

5. B. 9. Summary 

5. B. 10. Self-Assessment questions. 

5. B. 11. Further reading.  

 

5. B. 1 INTRODUCTION 

 

 

Language and communication are changing all the time. This is probably because of the fact 

that people change all the time. Although people are the main reason why communications 

change, there are a number of other factors why people have to be continually updated on 

their communication skills. The importance of communication skills is undeniable because of 

this. 

 

 

Communication can be a tricky concept to master within an organization, particularly one 

with complex levels and multiple issues. When all parts of the organization communicate 

smoothly, it can improve workflow and overall productivity. By making an effort to improve 

the communication processes, one can build a stronger company that will have staying power 

in the market. 
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Drafting is the first step in effective communication. A good and efficient draft will go a long 

way in saving time and effort at all levels of the organization and making decision making 

smoother and swift. 

 

5. B. 2 DRAFTING FOR COMMUNICATION – PROCEDURE AND GENERAL 

 INSTRUCTIONS 

 

There are different forms of communication in business, such as verbal, nonverbal and 

written. Each of these communication forms is significant. However, written communication 

usually requires more thought and effort. Writing must be concise, informative and easy to 

read as both an informative and instructional tool. The importance of written communication 

in business is evident by the plethora of forms, manuals and materials that companies publish 

each day. 

 

It is said that well begun is half done. This holds true for communication in the office as well. 

Prior to most of the official communication, it is necessary to prepare a draft which will help 

in effective transmission of message for speedy action. 

 

Drafting can be defined as “a stage of the writing process during which a writer organizes 

information and ideas into sentences and paragraphs.” 

 

In simpler words it is preparation of a preliminary version of a document. It is a type of 

drawing, plan or sketch.  

 

Procedure for Drafting: 

 

1. No draft normally should be prepared in simple and straight forward cases or those of 

a repetitive nature for which standard forms of communication exist. Such cases may 

be submitted to the appropriate officer with fair copies of the communication for 

signatures. 

 

2. When the line of action is obvious and no noting need be done or when noting is 

necessary but examination of the matter develops a clear line of action, a draft will be 

put up straight for approval; otherwise a draft will be put up only after the appropriate 
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officer has indicated or approved the line of action or what the contents of the 

communication should be. 

 

 

3. An officer who has formulated his views on a case may either have the fair 

communication made for his signature and authorise its issue or prepare a draft and 

submit it to the appropriate officer for approval. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Guidelines for Writing Official Notes: 

 

1. The official note should carry the message sought to be conveyed in a language that is 

clear, concise and incapable of being misconstrued. 

 

2. Lengthy sentences, abruptness, redundancy, circumlocution, superlative and 

repetition, whether of words, observation or ideas, should be avoided 

 

3. Communication of some length or complexity should generally conclude with a 

summary. 

 

4. Where appropriate, the subject should be mentioned in communications. 

 

5. The number and date of the last communication in the series, and if this is not from 

the addressee, his last communication on the subject, should always be referred to. 

Where it is necessary, to refer to more than one communication or a series of 

communications, this should be done in the margin of the draft. 

 

6. All drafts put up on a file should bear the file number. When two or more 

communications are to issue from the same file to the same addressee on the same 

date, a separate serial number may be inserted before the numeral identifying the year 

to avoid confusion in reference. 

 

7. A draft should clearly specify the enclosures which are to accompany the fair copy. In 

addition, short oblique lines should be drawn at appropriate places in the margin for 

ready references by the typist, the comparers and the despatcher. 
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8. If copies of an enclosure referred to in the draft are available and are, therefore, not to 

be typed, an indication to that effect should be given in the margin of the draft below 

the relevant oblique line. 

 

9. If the communication to be dispatched by post is important, it should be sent under 

registered post, insured cover or postal certificate, as appropriate. 

 

10. The name, designation and telephone number of the officer, over whose signature the 

communication is to be issue, should invariably be indicated on the draft. 

 

11. In writing or typing a draft, sufficient space should be left for the margin and between 

successive lines to admit of addition or interpolation of words, if necessary. 

 

12. A slip bearing the words ―Draft for approval‖ should be attached to the draft. If two or 

more drafts are put on the file, the drafts as well as the slips attached thereof should be 

marked. 

 

13. Drafts which are to issue as ―Immediate‖ or ―Priority‖ will be so marked. 

 

14. The officer concerned has to initial on the draft in token of his approval. 

 

 

 

 

Activity  A – Write in sequence the ―Procedure of Drafting‖ : 

 

1------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

2------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

3------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

4------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

5------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

 

5. B. 3 CHARACTERISTICS OF EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION 

 

 

1) Effective communicators often have the judgment and foresight to know when to say 

it, when to write both. Verbal communication followed by written is most effective in 

situations where immediate action is required, when an important policy change is 

being made, when a praiseworthy employee or event is identified, or when a company 

directive is announced. More general information requiring only future action is most 

effectively communicated in written form.  
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2) Effective communicators present information clearly using organization, concise 

language, and visualization to express the matter. 

 

3) Rules for clear expression include being direct, providing immediate information and 

feedback, providing a complete and accurate reflection of thoughts, feelings, needs 

and observations, without vagueness, stating the real purpose, and communicating in a 

supportive manner, avoiding an immediately defensive reaction. 

 

4) Effective communicators also assess their audience and communicate accordingly. If 

assessing the audience, consider whether you are communicating with an internal or 

external group. Would the group know the lingo, acronyms, inside jokes? Or, are you 

sharing information with an outside group that is best kept internal? 

 

5) The communicator should consider his or her relationship with the audience: formal 

and distant or close and personal. This can set the conversational tone. Finally, is the 

audience a group or an individual?  

 

6) To improve communication, the communicator must also consider the purpose of the 

communication. Is it intended to: 1) inform – provide new information and educate 

the recipient; 2) motivate – encourage performance or move people to action; or, 3) 

negotiate – make an offer or provide a counteroffer in a written agreement? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. B. 4 SOME USEFUL COMMUNICATION SKILLS 

 

 

Some useful communication skills:  Dictation, Reading, Writing, Noting 
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Dictation: It denotes oral communication to an intermediary who transcribes the spoken 

words in written form. Generally the dictation is given by one person to the other to note 

and convey to the third person, some message which may mean not only to inform but even 

to respond to it. We can define that the purpose of dictation is to type and communicate to 

the addressee the message or order given. One of the most important aspects of dictation is 

clarity in pronunciation and meaning of the word. 

 

Some dos and don’ts of dictation are: 

     

   

DOs 

 

1. Dictate in a natural and relaxed 
manner. He should think that he is 
speaking directly to the listener. He 
should dictate in simple words and a 
natural tone which is easily 
understandable. 

2. Carefully announce the confusing 
words. One should not drop the final 
syllables or letters.  

 

 

 

 

3. Punctuations: Common punctuation 
marks need not be dictated and 
unusual punctuation marks should be 
expressed like quotation marks, 
exclamation marks, dashes, brackets 
etc. 

4. Read or playback the significant parts 
of the message to confirm that all the 
points have been covered.  

5. Learn how to use the dictating 
machine or any other similar 
machine. One should learn the 

techniques of erase, rewind, forward 
etc. 

6. Organize and outline dictation 
material in advance.  
 

7. Keep other considerations in mind as 
to whom the copies are to be 
forwarded. 

 

 

 

DONTs 

 

1. Don’t speak in an inaudible or unclear 
tone or diction.  

 

 

 

 

2. If you intend to say: “Allow 5% discount 
on all goods, say “5% discount on 
products” and not “5% discount on 
product”. In the second line, the intention 
of the seller may not be clear and it 
confines it to only one produt. 
 

3. Don’t miss in dictating the unusual 
punctuation marks. 
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4. Presentation without checking may lead 
to mistakes. Don’t put it before seeing it 
thoroughly. 

5. Handle the digital instruments carefully, a 
slight mistake may cause heavy losses. 
 

 

6. One should read and mark out key points 
which he wants to put in the letter. 
Missing points may betray the meaning. 

7. Compliance of instructions in full saves 
from making mistakes and repetitions. 
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Tips for effective dictation: 

 

Before taking notes of dictation: 

 

1. Any special information needed should be given attention. 

2. The number of copies required should be indicated clearly. 

3. A brief outline be prepared and thoughts be put in sequence. 

4. All the necessary reference material should be in hand in advance. 

5. The documents format should be identified beforehand. 

6. Name, designation and place of the person giving dictation should be noted. 

 

Tips and points to be kept in mind while giving dictation: 

 

1. Unusual words should be clarified and spelled out. 

2. Each syllable should be pronounced distinctly. 

3. Clear accent should be used. 

4. Differentiation should be made between text and instructions given. 

5. Date should be typed and correspondence should be specified. 

6. There should be clear demarcation where paragraph is changed. 

7. Corrections and revisions should be clearly indicated. 

8. Voice should be dropped at the end of the sentence to indicate completion of the 
sentence. 
 

9. The tabular form should be dictated from left to right. 

10. Annoying habits like clearing of throat should be avoided. 

11. Eating, smoking or chewing during dictation should be avoided. 

12. Disturbance from background should be avoided. 

13. When work is completed end of the session be announced. 
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Reading Skills: 

 

Reading is a dynamic process, while you are reading simultaneously your mind also reacts to 

the message of text which you get during reading. In this way, prior knowledge helps in 

correlating the message which is given there. In this way, reader adjusts to the method of 

reading and understanding. Even changes in the environment are made to get the correct 

results from operations. Reader’s personality attitude and mood becomes important factors to 

get the results from interactive reading. He prepares his own strategy of reading and even 

makes it flexible according to situation. Thus, reading encompasses all the factors like reader’s 

personality, attitude, behaviour, environment and the objectives which are to be obtained. 

Even the student’s reading habit can be evaluated and improved on by practice and proper 

understanding of the techniques and tools for easy understanding. 

 

Reading purposes can be described as follows: 

 

1. Reading for understanding and acquiring knowledge of the subject matter. 
 

It involves reading the material regarding office or office working, sales and purchase 

literature and the human condition and their interplay among events and situations, 

emotions and their exploration. It clarifies the intention and objectives of the writer and 

how and what type of responses he wants back. In some brochures one gets how the 

author arranges the facts, puts tabular information and organizes the data and its 

interpretation. 

 

2. Reading for information. 
 

It involves reading articles and magazines, entire book on a subject or stories of business 

successes and achievements and information about their business techniques and 

behaviour. It may require awareness and knowledge of charts, footnotes, diagrams and 

general information about some business or work event. Information about some 

projects will be useful for the both internal and external stake holders. 

 

3. Reading to perform a task needs extra care and special attention. 
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It involves reading documents such as information which is used for keeping work and 

adaptable work environment. Information regarding income tax and insurance policy, 

consumer’s warranty, maps and train timings and schedules though not directly bear 

relationships with office or industry but have bearing on the cost, time and efficiency 

measures applicable in the office, business or industry. 

 

4. It requires understanding of the purpose and structure of documents which guide 
selection, application and understanding of information. 
 

 

 Improvement in reading skill 

 

The following tips will be helpful in improving the reading skill of an office employee or business 

 

1. One should be selective in finding the required information from newspapers, 
magazines, journals, trade journals etc. 
 

2. One should figure out the particular selection about which information is needed. He 
should read and concentrate on that part and skip over others. 
 

3. If one cannot read all useful documents or relevant material at a time. One should get 
photocopies and put them in a folder or file which may be read or referred at leisure 
and time suiting to the reader 
 

4. One can outline his/her spare time, where reading can be done to gain knowledge and 
use the time. 

5. A specific time should be spent, spaced and fixed daily for reading when there is least 
disturbance. 
 

6. One should take notes when reading somewhat difficult material. 
 

7. There should be pause while reading continuously as the curve of understanding and 
retention goes down. More you read, less u less u will retain in understanding. 
 

8. Important information be retained by the reader in folders. 
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9. If one wants to send the information to someone else, he should do so with the help of 
private secretary or concerned clerk. 
 

10. Before commencement of reading one should have necessary material as pen, pencil, 
paper and file at his desk and in hands reach. 
 

11. Even one can purchase a book how to read faster. 
 

12. One can use reference or information cards for further reading material and information 
workout. 
 

13. Use of dictionary should be made frequently. 
 

14. The main points be summarised in a few words. 
 

 

 

Writing Skills 

 

Writing skill is an important and essential skill of written communication. This written 

communication takes the shape of letters, reports and other types of documents which are 

essential to a modern office and business. Employees at all level should be able to read, 

understand and write the instructions relating to their work and workplace. Thus, writing 

becomes essential for both internal and external purposes of the organisation. 

 

The maid advantages of written communication in an office or business that it provides 

permanent records so that the matter can be referred back and read again at the time of need. 

In other words one can read material or document later and get the same text and message as 

it was originally put. This will be undistorted with time. Documentary evidence can be used and 

referred several times in its original form. 

 

Writing work in an office or business house is frequently occurring. Thus, some guidelines have 

been framed to be used to enhance the efficiency in getting the desired results. The guidelines 

can be put as:- 
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1. Write in Active Voice:- Active voice avoids confusion as it contains the name of the 
actor or performer of the function. Sometimes when it is in passive voice the wordings 
are not as straight as in active voice. For example, the clerk wrote the draft of the letter 
(active voice). The draft of the letter was written by the clerk (passive voice).  

2. Use Action Verb: Use action verb so that unnecessary words be avoided. 
Example:  

       Don’t say          Say 

 Give consideration to     Consider 

 It’s applicable to      Consider 

 Make payment      Pay 
 

Action verbs are shorter and more direct. 

 

3. Use Must instead of Shall:  Shall imposes an obligation to act but must not only imposes 
obligation but indicates necessity to act. Don’t say “The minister shall approve it”, say 
“The minister will approve it”. 
 

4. Be Direct: The writer should talk directly to his readers. Directness avoids passiveness.  
Example : Sign all copies of documents enclosed with the C.V. 

 

5. Use Present Tense: A regulation is drafted in present tense. 
Example: Don’t say – The fine for driving without a license shall be Rs.500/- 

      Say – The fine for driving without a license is Rs.500/- 

 

6. Write Positively: 
Example: Don’t say – The IG may not appoint policeman other than those qualified. 

Say – The IG may appoint a qualified person. 

 

Don’t Say       Say 

 

No honest        Dishonest 

Did not remember      Forgot 

Did not pay any attention to     Ignored 
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If one can express an idea either positively or negatively, it should be expressed 

positively. 

 

7. Avoid Use of Exceptions:  
 

Don’t Say – All persons except eighteen or above can vote. 

Say – All persons below eighteen cannot vote. 

 

8. Use Singular Nouns:  
 

Don’t Say – The manager will issue passes to school boys. 

Say – The manager will issue passes to each student. 

 

9. Be Consistent – Different words should not be used to denote the same meaning: 
 

Don’t Say – Each motorcycle owner must register his vehicle. 

Say – The automobile owner should register. 

 

10. Don’t Use the Same Word to Denote Different Meaning: 
Don’t Say – The tank has a hundred gallon tank. 

Say – The tank has a hundred gallon tank for fuel. 

 

11. Omit needless words: 
 

Don’t Say – Because of the fact that. 

Say – Since/Because. 

 

12. Avoid redundancies: 
 

Words pairs should not be used if they have same meaning. 

Example: Any and all, full and complete, authorize and direct. 

 

13. Use concrete words: 
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Don’t Say – Vehicles 

Say – Automobiles 

 

Don’t Say – Firearms 

Say – Rifles 

 

14.  Don’t use words that antagonise: Use words which draw a favourable reaction from 
the people. 

 

Example:  Allege/Blame/Complain/Impossible. 

 

15. Avoid Noun Sandwiches:  
 

Don’t Say – Crewmen 

Say – Crewmember 

 

Don’t Say – Firemen. 

Say – Firefighter 

 

Don’t Say – Foreman 

Say – Supervisor 

 

 

Activity C – A communication diagram is given, write the missing links: 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

        →                                                                                                                                                       

 

                

                

                                                                                                          

receiver of the 
message Sender of the 

message 
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5. B. 5 NOTING – GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING NOTING 

 

What are Notes? 

 

1. Notes are written remarks recorded on a paper under consideration to facilitate its 

disposal. 

2. It should consist of précis of previous paper, the statement or analysis of the questions 

requiring decision, suggestion on the course of action or order passed thereon. 

3. The name, designation and, where necessary the telephone number of officer signing a 

note should be invariably be typed or stamped with a rubber stamp below the signature, 

which should be dated. In recording date, the month and year should also be indicated 

General Instructions regarding noting of Routine or Repetitive Nature: -- 

1. All notes should be concise and to the point. Excessive noting is an evil, which should be 

avoided. The officers are required to read the paper under consideration and the previous 

notes if any.  

2. A simple and direct style of writing should always be adopted. Use of complicated and 

ambiguous language should be avoided. 

3. Notes and orders should normally be recorded on note sheets. 

4. Any officer who is to note upon a file on which a Running Summary of Facts is available 

should, in drawing attention to the facts of the case, refer to the summary without 

repeating any part of the fact in his own note. 

5. Relevant extracts of a rule or instruction will be placed on the file and attention to it will 

be drawn in the note, rather than reproducing the relevant provision in the note. 

6. If apparent error in the note of another Ministry has to be pointed out or if the opinion 

express therein has to be criticized care should be taken that the observations are 

expressed in courteous and temperate language, free from personal remarks. 

7. If the branch officer or higher officer has made any remark on a receipt, these should first 

be copied out and then the note should follow. No note should be written on the receipt 

itself except in very routine manner. 

8. A note will be divided into serially numbered paragraphs of easy size, say ten lines each. 

Paragraph may preferably have brief titles. 

9. When arising out of a single case there are several points requiring orders each point 

should be noted upon and submitted to Branch Officer separately. Such notes will be 

called Sectional Notes and at the time of recording should be placed after the main notes 

in the file. 

 
 

Response 
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10. Modification of notes— There should be no occasion to record a note in the first instance 

and then passing it over. Such pasting tantamount to mutilation of record. It also gives an 

intelligent look to the files. Even where a note is recorded in the first instance needs may. 

Activity B – Write some simple guidelines for writing official note: 

 

1_____________________________________________________________________________ 

2_____________________________________________________________________________ 

3_____________________________________________________________________________ 

4_____________________________________________________________________________ 

5. B. 6 TYPES OF NOTING 

 

 

Noting should be restricted to the minimum. It should be systematic and functional. The 

following are the different types of approaches which can be adopted for noting on various 

categories of cases:- 

 

1.  No Action Cases: 

 

Such cases should be filed at the initial stage itself by the Section Officer or Desk 

functionary briefly recording the reasons why no action is necessary. These cases are also known 

as "No-Noting" cases. Such cases should be kept in the File "O" bundle and destroyed on 31st 

December of every year. These may also be returned in original to the sender recording requisite 

factual information. 

 

2.  Routine or Repetitive Cases:  
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In cases of repetitive nature, `a standard process sheet' which means a standard skeleton 

note should be developed indicating pre-determined points of check In respect of other routine 

cases, a fair reply should be put up without any noting. 

 

3.  Action-in-Correspondence Cases: 

 

These cases also do not require detailed noting. It would be sufficient if a brief note (a 

paragraph or so) is recorded indicating the issue under consideration and the suggested action. 

 

 

4. Problem Solving Cases 

 

In these cases, a detailed note providing maximum information on each aspect will be 

necessary. Even then, the note should be concise and to the point, covering the following 

aspects:- 

 

(i) What is the problem? 

(ii) How has it arisen? ' 

(iii) What is the `Rule', `Policy' or `Precedent? 

(iv) What are the possible solutions? 

(v) Which is the best solution? Why? 

(vii) What will be the consequences of the proposed solution?  

 

5.  Policy and Planning Cases: 

 

These types of cases would not be large in number and are normally dealt with at 

sufficiently higher levels of the organisation. They require a thorough examination with 
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maximum amount of noting developed systematically. A note in such cases should be structured 

in the following manner: - 

 

(i) Problem: - State the problem. How it has arisen? What are the critical factors? 

 

(ii) Additional Information: - Give additional information to size up the problem. The 

information would be available on the files and other papers in the Section. If 

sufficient information is not available to enable thorough examination, it should 

be collected before attempting a note. 

 

(iii) Rule, policy etc: - Relevant rules, regulations, policy, standing orders, practices 

are required to be referred to, wherever available. Logical interpretation of such 

rules etc. bringing out their bearing on the problem has to be put across in a 

cohesive manner. 

 

(iv) Precedents: - Precedent cases having a bearing on the issue under consideration 

should be put up. If there are varying precedents or any precedent differs in 

certain respects from the case under examination, the difference should be 

brought out so as to arrive at a correct decision. 

 

(v) Critical analysis: - the case should then be examined on merits answering 

questions such as what are the possible alternative solutions/ which is the best 

solution? It should be ensured that views of other Divisions/Ministries etc. have 

been obtained where necessary. Attention should also be paid to other aspects like 

the financial and other implications, repercussions, and the modality of 

implementing the decision and the authority competent to take a decision. 

 

(vi) Concluding para: - the concluding para should suggest a course of action for 

consideration. In cases where a decision is to be taken by a higher authority like 

committee, Board etc. the point or points on which the decision of such higher 

authority is sought should be specifically mentioned.  
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5. B. 7  REFERENCING 

 

 

 

Referencing is the process of identifying a document, decision and facts mentioned in a note, 

draft or office copy of communication issued. It involves a series of activities. These are: 

 

1.  Every page in each part of the file (viz., notes, correspondence, appendix to notes and 

appendix to correspondence) will be consecutively numbered in separate series, in pencil. 

Blank intervening pages, if any, will not be numbered. 

 

2. Each item of correspondence in a file, whether receipt or issue, will be assigned a serial 

number which will be displayed prominently in red ink on the top middle portion of its 

first page. , 

 

3.  The paper under consideration on a file will be flagged 'PUC' and the latest fresh receipt 

noted upon, as 'F.R'. In no circumstances, will a slip, other than PUC and 'FR' be attached 

to any paper in a current file. If there are more than one fresh receipt in a case, these 

should be flagged as 'F.R I', 'FR II and so on. 

 

4.  In referring to the papers flagged 'PUC' or 'FR' the relevant page numbers will be quoted 

invariably in the margin. 

 

5.  Recorded files and other papers put up with the current file will be flagged with 

alphabetical slips for quick identification. Only one alphabetical slip will be attached to a 

recorded file or compilation. If two or more papers contained in the same file or 
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compilation are to be referred to, they should be identified by the relevant page numbers 

in addition to the alphabetical slip, e.g. 'A'/23 n., 'A'/17 C and so on. 

 

6.  To facilitate the identification of references to papers contained in other files invariably 

in the body of the note. The relevant page numbers, together with the alphabetical slip 

attached thereto will be indicated in the margin. Similarly, the number and date of orders, 

notifications and resolutions, and, in the case of acts, rules and regulations their brief title 

together with the number of the relevant section, rule, paragraph or clause, referred to 

will be quoted in the body of the notes. 

 

7. Rules or other compilations referred to in a case need not be put up if copies thereof are 

expected to be available with the officer to whom the case is being submitted. The fact of 

such compilations not having been part up will be indicated in the margin of the notes in 

pencil. 

 

8.  The reference slips will be pinned neatly on the inside of the papers sought to be flagged. 

When a number of papers put up in a case are to be flagged, the slips will be spread over 

the entire width of the file so that every slip is easily visible. 

 

 

 

5. B. 8 CHECKLIST FOR DRAFTING  

 

In order for a draft to be proper and effective and to minimize wastage of time and other 

resources, it is necessary that the person creating the draft takes care of all the essential aspects 

beforehand and should have a checklist ready so that nothing is omitted erroneously. 

 

A draft should indicate  

 

1) File No. 
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2) The name, designation, telephone number, fax number and complete postal address of the 

sender organisation 

 

3) The name/designation of the addressee with complete postal address  

 

4) Salutation (i.e. Sir, Dear.....etc.,), where required 

 

5) Subject 

 

6) Number and date of the last communication in the series (from the addressee or from the 

sender)  

 

7) The enclosures which are to accompany the fair copy (A short oblique line in the margin 

will indicate that enclosures are to be sent along with the fair copy) 

 

8) Subscription (i.e. yours faithfully, yours sincerely etc.), where required 

 

9) The mode of transmission, e.g. 'By Registered post' 'By Special messenger etc., at the top 

right corner 

 

10)  Urgency grading, if required 

 

11)  Endorsement, where necessary  

 

 

 

 

5 B. 9 SUMMARY: 
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The importance of communication skills is undeniable. Drafting is the first step in effective 

communication. A good and efficient draft will go a long way in saving time and effort at all 

levels. Drafting is a stage of the writing process during which a writer organizes information 

and ideas into sentences and paragraphs. A specific procedure needs to be adopted for 

drafting communication and generally accepted principles and guidelines are to be followed. 

There are certain characteristics of effective communication; a few of them include clarity of 

thought and expression, brevity, directness, accuracy, completeness and assessment of 

audience. Notes are written remarks recorded on a paper under consideration to facilitate its 

disposal. Certain general principles are to be adopted while noting. Noting can be of the 

following types: 

 No action cases 

 Routine or Repetitive Cases 

 Action-in-Correspondence Cases 

 Problem Solving Cases 

 Policy and Planning Cases 

Referencing is the process of identifying a document, decision and facts mentioned in a note, 

draft or office copy of communication issued. 

 

 

5. B. 10  SELF-ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS: 

 

Self-assessment questions :- 

 

1.Write short notes on - 

 

(1)Routine noting : 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

……………………………………… 

 

.(2)Repetitive noting : 
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………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

……………………………………… 

2. Write short notes in five sentences each: 

 

(a) No action cases. 

(b) Policy planning. 

(c) Check list of the drafting notes. 

 

 

5. B. 11  FURTHER READINGS 

 

1. Business Organisation and Communications :- Dr. S.C. Saxena and Prof. V.P. Agrawal,        Sahitya 

Bhawan Publications, Agra 

2. Effective Business Letters :- Abraham Sung ,  Minerva Pub. New Delhi 

3. Business Correspondence and Report Writing, RC Sharma and Krishna Mohan, Tata Mc Graw Hill, 

Noida 

4. Business Communication and Business Regulatory Frame Work, Urmila Rai, PK Jain VC Vishwakarma, 

Himalaya Publishing House, Delhi 

5. Vyavsayak Sangathan avam Sampreshan, Dr. S M Shukla, Sahitya Bhavan, Agra 

. 

 

 

 

 

 


